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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | present the annual
report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

The Group is a Hong Kong-based subcontractor engaged in the
provision of wet trades works and the wet trades related ancillary
works in Hong Kong. Since 2021, capitalising on our expertise and
experience in providing wet trades related solutions, we established an
online platform for subscribers to specify the payment application in our
database.

The revenue from (i) provision of wet trades works and the wet trades
related ancillary works and (ii) provision of construction information
technology services for the Year amounted to approximately HK$86.7
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$35.8 million or
29.2% as compared to approximately HK$122.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such decrease was primarily attributable to
the intense market competition lead to smaller number of successful
tenders and lower value of contracts awarded during the Year. The
construction information technology services contribute HK$366,000
for the Year. The gross loss of approximately HK$21.5 million reported
for the Year was mainly due to (i) competitive project pricing arising
from intense market competition; (ii) delay in certification of works
performed of certain projects; and (iii) increase in direct costs from (a)
additional subcontractors, resources and other costs related to deal with
unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements initiated by customers;
and (b) delays in certain projects (mainly for projects at Tai Wai). The
gross loss margin was in the similar level in both years.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

In 2023, Hong Kong's GDP grew by 3.2% year-on-year, driven largely
by the recovery of inbound tourism and private consumption. Ongoing
headwinds from weak global demand for goods and tightened
monetary conditions have limited the full rebound after the reopening.
Hong Kong's economy is expected to remain positive in 2024, albeit
at a slower pace, supported by resilient consumption as well as
government’s continued economic stimulus. Globally, with 2024 being
the biggest election year in history, the drag of political uncertainty
worldwide on economy remains and may persist throughout the year.
Recent relaxation of property cooling measures in Hong Kong breathes
new life into the property market but underlying economic performance
depends heavily on the Mainland economy given the deepening
integration. Overall, with numerous external and domestic uncertainties
compounding volatility, business outlook remains clouded, and these
challenging conditions may take an extended period to fully resolve.

The Group has been exploring other business opportunities and/or
expanding the geographical coverage of the principal business of the
Group beyond the Hong Kong market in order to enhance our future
development and to strengthen the revenue bases of the Group. We
believe that such exploration would be worthy so that we will be well-
prepared to dive into any opportunities as they arise or come to our
attention. We expect that diversification of our business will provide a
better return to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
my deep gratitude to our committed staff and Directors for their
dedication and contribution, and to sincerely thank our customers,
business partners and investors for their continuous support and trust.

Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review and Outlook

The Group is an established subcontractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in (i) provision of wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works and (ii) provision of construction
information technology services. Wet trades works include plastering on
floors, walls and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and
floors, brick laying and marble works.

Provision of wet trades and its related ancillary
works

The Group provides wet trades works through its principal operating
subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma
Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau"”). Both of the principal operating
subsidiaries have been registered with the Registered Specialist Trade
Contractors Scheme (formerly known as the Subcontractor Registration
Scheme) of the Construction Industry Council. Pak Fai and Ma Yau
first completed such registrations under the predecessor scheme in
April 2004 and our registrations have since then covered finishing wet
trades, marble, granite and stone work with a wide range of specialties
including brick work, plastering and tiling, spray plaster and screeding,
marble and granite works.

As at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the
original contract sum of the Group’s ongoing projects (including projects
that have commenced but not substantially completed as well as
projects that have been awarded but not yet commenced) in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$179.4 million. As at the date of this
annual report, the Group was in the course of bidding for or submitted
bids pending the tender results of six projects, with an estimated total
contract sum of approximately HK$346.4 million.

Provision of construction information technology
services

Based on our Directors’ practical experience, any potential customers,
such as wet trades service providers in the construction industry, who
are not familiar with payment request and without connections to
specialist contractors may eventually seek from external resources for
assistance in performing their duties such as information on calculation
of total work done in their projects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
S 1B 8 & am B o AT

During the Year, capitalising on our expertise and experience in
providing passive wet trade payment request information technology
solutions, we established an online platform to provide subscribers with
information such as specifications of various wet trade services items in
our database so as to assist customers to carry out monthly review on
the contractor’s payment requests.

During 2023, measures to contain the pandemic were gradually
removed. Despite the expectancy of a return to a state of normal,
international trade and commerce did not fully recover in terms of speed
and strength as the US Federal Reserve and central banks repeatedly
raised interest rates throughout the year, which along with persistently
high inflation dragged down the global economy. Despite the tight
financial condition and there is concern that the speed of new projects
being rolled out for tenders might be adversely affected, it is anticipated
that the Government will continue to invest in the infrastructure
and create more lands through site formation and reclamation. The
business environment in the construction industry of Hong Kong is
now facing challenge as more Mainland China construction companies
are participating in the construction market, there will be a huge
pressure on the tender price and profit margin. Although the overall
business environment has gradually improved during the Year, the
Group'’s tendering result, were still not satisfying. The intense market
competition may lead to smaller number of successful tenders and
quotations and lower value of contracts awarded to the Group. The
Group’s gross profit margin is also under pressure from competitive
project pricing on tenders and quotations, which in turn affects financial
performance of the Group.

In order to maintain its market share in the wet trades works industry,
the Group will continue to closely monitor the market and respond to
changes in market conditions. The Directors are confident that with the
Group's reputation in the wet trades works industry and its experienced
management team, the Group is in a good position to compete with its
competitors. The Group will continue to improve its competitiveness in
the market by continuing to provide quality works to its customers. The
Group will also continue to proactively seek opportunities to expand its
customer base and its market share and undertake more wet trades and
wet trades related trade divisions projects which will enhance value to
the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Review

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$35.8 million or
approximately 29.2% from approximately HK$122.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$86.7 million for the
Year. Such decrease was primarily attributable to the intense market
competition lead to smaller number of successful tenders and lower
value of contracts awarded.

Gross Loss and Gross Loss Margin

The gross loss of the Group for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$21.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 24.9% as
compared with gross loss of approximately HK$28.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The Group's gross loss margin for the
Year was approximately 24.8%, as compared with gross loss margin
of approximately 23.4% for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
gross loss was mainly due to (i) competitive project pricing arising
from intense market competition; (ii) delay in certification of works
performed of certain projects; and (iii) increase in direct costs from (a)
additional subcontractors, resources and other costs related to deal with
unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements initiated by customers;
and (b) delays in certain projects (mainly for projects at Tai Wai). The
gross loss margin was in the same level in both years.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses of the Group for the Year amounted to a net
gain of approximately HK$3.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 293.5% or HK$5.2 million as compared with a net loss
of approximately HK$1.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.
The gains was primarily due to one-off gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$9.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
15.8% as compared with approximately HK$7.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. The increase was mainly attributable to
increase in administrative salary allocated to staffs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
S 1B 8 & am B o AT

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group for the Year were approximately
HK$336,000, representing an increase of approximately 18.7% as
compared with approximately HK$283,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in interest
rate during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Net Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year increased
by approximately HK$4.6 million or approximately 8.2% from
approximately HK$56.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022
to net loss of approximately HK$51.6 million for the Year. The decrease
in the Group’s net loss for the Year was mainly due to improvement
of gross loss margin and offset by the increase in allowance for
impairment losses during the Year.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital
Structure

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 August 2019. On 12 July 2023, the
Board proposed to implement the share consolidation (the “Share
Consolidation”) on the basis that every ten (10) issued and unissued
Shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company will be
consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.10 each (the
“Consolidated Shares”). An ordinary resolution to approve the Share
Consolidation has been passed by the Shareholders at the extraordinary
general meeting held on Friday, 11 August 2023. The Share
Consolidation took effect on Tuesday, 15 August 2023. For further
details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 12
July 2023 and 11 August 2023, and the circular of the Company dated
26 July 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s issued capital was
HK$31,200,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
312,000,000 of HK$0.10 each.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had total bank balances of
approximately HK$18.6 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$14.0 million). The total borrowings of the Group, consisting of
bank overdrafts and bank borrowings, as at 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$9.6 million (31 December 2022: approximately
HK$9.7 million). All borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. Interests are charged at floating rates. The Group did not carry
out any interest rate hedging policy.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group's
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had pledged financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$2.7 million (31
December 2022: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$2.6 million and leasehold land and building of
approximately HK$1.2 million) in order to secure bank facilities granted
to the Group.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong. Most of the operating
transactions and revenue were settled in Hong Kong dollars and the
Group’s assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. With the insignificant portion of monetary transactions and
assets denominated in foreign currencies, the Group did not engage
in any derivatives agreement and did not commit to any financial
instrument to hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the Year
(2022: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB wm AT

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio (calculated as total bank
borrowings (i.e. bank overdrafts and bank borrowings) divided by
the total equity) was approximately 18.1% (31 December 2022:
approximately 9.3%).

Capital Commitments and Contingent
Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no material capital
commitments or contingent liabilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of
Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Significant Investment Held

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant investments.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

The Group does not have any other plans for material investments or
capital assets in the near term.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 14 employees
(including executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors),
as compared to a total of 16 employees as at 31 December 2022.
Total staff costs which include Directors’ emoluments for the Year
were approximately HK$5.6 million (year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately HK$5.3 million). The salary and benefit level of the
employees of the Group are competitive and individual performance
is rewarded through the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group
conducts annual review on the salary increase, discretionary bonuses
and promotions based on the performance of each employee.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after
recommendation from the remuneration committee of the Company,
having considered factors such as the Group’s financial performance
and the individual performance of the Directors, etc.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees.

During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant problems
with its employees due to labour disputes nor has it experienced any
difficulty in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff.

Final Dividend

The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final
dividend to Shareholders for the Year.
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The Board is pleased to present to the Shareholders this annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company while the principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the provision of wet trades
works and other wet trades related ancillary works in Hong Kong and
(ii) provision of construction information technology services. Details of
the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report. There was no
significant change in the Group'’s principal activities during the Year.

Business Review

Discussion and analysis of principal activities as required by Schedule
5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks facing the Group and an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business, can be
found in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set
out on pages 7 to 13 of this annual report. The discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

Results and Dividend

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
88 of this annual report. The Board has resolved not to recommend the
declaration of final dividend to Shareholders for the Year.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

Relationship with Key Stakeholders

The Directors are of the view that employees, customers, sub-
contractors and suppliers are the keys to the sustainable development
of the Group.
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Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The objective
of the Group’s human resource management is to reward and
recognise well-performed staff by providing a competitive remuneration
package and implementing a sound performance appraisal system
with appropriate incentives. In particular, the Group promotes career
development and advancement by providing appropriate training and
opportunities in order to enhance the employees’ work performance.

Customers

The Group’s major customers include construction work companies
engaged in public and/or private construction projects in Hong Kong.
The Group has established long-term business relationship with these
customers for many years and committed to offer quality service to
meet their requirement. The Group endeavours to maintain contacts
with these customers regularly in order to understand their needs and
provide required service to support their businesses.

Sub-contractors and Suppliers

The Group has developed a long-standing relationship with a number
of sub-contractors and suppliers and the Group has always been
communicating closely with them to ensure that there will be good
quality and sustainable goods and services provided to the Group. When
selecting sub-contractors and suppliers, the Group often requires them
to satisfy certain criteria such as experience and capability, financial
strength, track record, and reputation.

Share Capital

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 91
of this annual report.
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Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2023, there is no reserve available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company (2022: HK$72.2 million).

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme disclosed below, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during the
Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme was adopted by the Company on 22 July
2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme was
approved by written resolutions of the Shareholders and as approved by
the listing committee of the Stock Exchange which is valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on 22 July 2019. A summary of
the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme is set out as follows:

(1) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to participants for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group and any Invested Entity.

(2) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, as its discretion, offer to grant an option to any
director, employee (full-time and part-time), supplier, customer,
advisor, contractor, agent, business partner or service providers
of the Group.
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3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

Total number of Shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, in compliance
with the provisions in Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and at the beginning of the financial year (i.e. 1 January 2023)
being prior to the Share Consolidation (mentioned below), the
maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all share options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and all share option schemes of the Company shall not
exceed 260,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the Shares in issue
as at the Listing Date. As at the end of the financial year (i.e. 31
December 2023) and the date of this annual report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 26,000,000 Shares, being approximately 8.33% of
the Shares in issue and following the adjustment on the coming
into effect of the ten-to-one Share Consolidation on 15 August
2023. As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the Share
Option Scheme has no service provider sublimit.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme to eligible participants in any 12 months period
up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of grant, any further grant of options in excess of
this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval of Shareholders in a
general meeting.

Period within which the securities must be
taken up under an option

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to
be determined and notified by the Board to the participant at
the time of making an offer for the grant of share option. Such
period shall not be more than ten years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer of the grant of a share option shall be accepted by the
eligible participants within a period of 21 days from the date of
offer of grant of share option. The consideration paid by each
grantee for the acceptance and grant of each share option is
HK$1.00, which has to be paid within 21 days.
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(7) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets on the date of grant,
which must be a trading date; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheets for the five trading dates immediately preceding
the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

(8) Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme was about 5 years and 3 months.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no option has been
granted. Therefore, no option was exercised, cancelled or lapsed during
the Year and there was no option outstanding as at 31 December 2023.

Directors

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung
Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung
Ms. Ding Xin
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s articles of association
(the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors will retire by rotation and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, provided that every Director shall retire at least
once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam and
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report. Annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules has been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Group considers all independent non-executive Directors
to be independent under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Service Contract

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years, unless terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

All of the independent non-executive Directors have respectively entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year
unless terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served
by either party on the other.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in
compliance with then code provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “"CG Code”) in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (currently
code provision F.1.1 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules). It is the policy of the Company, in considering the
payments of dividends and to allow Shareholders to participate in the
Company's profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for future growth
of the Group.

Under the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a dividend
and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into

account, inter alia:

o the general financial condition of the Group;
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o capital and debt level of the Group;

o future cash requirements and availability for business operations,
business strategies and future development needs;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's lenders;

° the general market conditions; and
o any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and any
other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The Policy
will be reviewed by the Board from time to time and there can be no
assurance that a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific
periods.

Management Contracts

During the Year, no contract, other than employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed.

Directors’ Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

During the Year, (i) there was no early termination of appointment
of Directors, and accordingly, no termination benefit was provided to
or receivable by any Director; (ii) no consideration was provided to or
receivable by third parties for making available Directors’ services; and
(i) save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no loans, quasi-
loans or other dealings in favour of Directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities, and the Company’s holding company.
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.
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Directors’/Controlling Shareholders’ Material
Interests in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts that are Significant in Relation to
the Group’s Business

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
any of the Company, its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent
companies was a party and in which a Director, an entity connected
with a Director, a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the Directors,
the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that compete or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during the Year and up to date of this annual report.

Non-Competition Undertaking

Each of the controlling Shareholders has made an annual declaration to
the Company that during the Year and up to date of this annual report,
he/it has complied with the terms of non-competition undertakings
("Non-Competition Undertakings”) given in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance by each of the controlling Shareholders with the
undertakings stipulated in the Non-Competition Undertakings and have
confirmed that, as far as the independent non-executive Directors can
ascertain, there is no breach of any of such undertakings.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own
fraud or dishonesty.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company and
its Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, interests and short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) held by the Directors and chief
executive of the Company which have been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO or have been entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise have been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

(i) Long position in the Shares

Capacity/Nature
Name of Director of interest
EEHE B4, EEtE

Interest in a controlled
corporation

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
("Mr. Adam Cheung”)
(Note)

SREE (R4 D) (D) XEEE R

EERERX

ARREREEZRSRAERENEAYAR
FEBELELRRHR  REERSEBEY

BEEFEHEENRRZHE

RIFAR - EEERRITHERRITE BB
MRETRERBRERSRIEL - BEIER
ZEAT RS R RERBARZNAE R
o BR - WEBK BEREMAX A
ERREMEZEAEBE - HERERS S HKGF
ST HEMAREKEE QARSI

EERTETHASREAT
REARRSEE GRS - AR
AREEENRRER AR

m_z_:¢+ A=+—8 ARAEER

BITBABRARRRETMEEEECE
%ﬁ 55 R EE G0 ([# 5 RBEMRE) EXV
M)kt - MR REEFETEEREE
HEREEEPIEXVEETRSDEEME AR
Al REE RPN - ARIBEF KA E RIS 3521
EERLERARTFEMNELM  HBRIELTR
A8 C3A 2 EFMBITAESETESR S
mﬁﬁ?wqﬁﬁ%%ﬁa%ﬁﬂa$@7&
B P R AR T

(i) REROVFRE

Percentage of
shareholding
REBFD L

Number of Shares

R E

195,000,000 62.5%

Hands Form Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2023



Note: 195,000,000 Shares are held by Wonderful Renown Limited (“Wonderful
Renown") which is beneficially owned as to 84% by Mr. Adam Cheung and
16% by Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms. LC Cheung”). By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Adam Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful
Renown. Mr. Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

(i) Long position in the ordinary shares of
associated corporation

Report of the Directors
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Mi%E : 195,000,000f% % 5 2 Wonderful Renown
Limited(fWonderful Renown )% «
Wonderful Renown% Bl 5K 7 &£ MR B 2
T(REZEDEREES4% K 16% ° BIFFH
FREIEED - R & A WAR AR Wonderful
Renowni¥ B ZFTBE RGP AEZ « R
ERRLT 2% -

(i) RAEEZEEBERNER

Name of Capacity/ Number of
associated Nature share(s) held/ Percentage
Name of Director corporation of interest interested of interest
ESE ToF %
Esps LR BB B, RRHE Wik E A EEEIL
Mr. Adam Cheung (Note) ~ Wonderful Renown Beneficial owner 84 84%
o 7 A4 (B EE) EREEA

Note:  Wonderful Renown is the direct Shareholder and is an associated corporation
within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Except as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as at the date
of this annual report as recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2023, so far as it is known by or otherwise notified
by any Director or the chief executive of the Company, the particulars of
the corporations or individuals (other than a Director or chief executive
of the Company) who had or were deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long position in the Company:

Capacity/Nature

Name of Shareholder of interest

BERMESEB B ERME

Wonderful Renown Beneficial Owner (Note 1)

BERERAMED
Ms. LC Cheung Interests held jointly with
other persons (Note 2)

SR+ EH M A T HFARE#ER (H5F2)

Ms. Chan Shui King Interest of a spouse (Note 3)

R ImIR & + Ao B s (P EE3)

Note:

1. Wonderful Renown is a direct Shareholder. Wonderful Renown is owned as to 84%
by Mr. Adam Cheung and 16% by Ms. LC Cheung. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Adam
Cheung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wonderful Renown. Mr.
Adam Cheung is the brother of Ms. LC Cheung.

2. Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown are parties acting in concert
(having the meaning as ascribed thereto in the Takeovers Code) pursuant to the deed
of confirmation and undertaking dated 21 February 2019. As such, Mr. Adam Cheung,
Ms. LC Cheung and Wonderful Renown will together control 62.5% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. LC Cheung is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Wonderful Renown.

3. Ms. Chan Shui King is the spouse of Mr. Adam Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan Shui

King is deemed or taken to be interested in the Shares held by Mr. Adam Cheung is
interested in under the SFO.

FTERRRRGREBRDH

RZZZ=F+ZA=+—0  BXAREM
EERTETHRABMAMIAEA T A P&
A RARFB KRR P A RER R
S E EHAAREE S MG ERAIEXVE
F2R3DEBIERX AR R R HE M BEREE
7 KRB G PIFE 33616 FE N E M AR
R R R EEREARAREETRER
TTRABRRINFFBT -

RARBREFR -

Number of Shares
held/interested Percentage of
(long position) shareholding
Fiss HERERD
ROEE (FR) REBDTL

195,000,000 62.5%

195,000,000 62.5%

195,000,000 62.5%

Wik

1. Wonderful Renown & E # & 5 » Wonderful Renown >
BRI E KRR L THEB84% K 16% © RIEHEH M
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Listed
Securities of the Company

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Arrangements to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual report was
the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

Major Customers, Subcontractors and
Suppliers

The approximate percentages of the Group’s revenue and cost of
services attributable to major customers, subcontractors and suppliers
during the Year and year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Approximate % of total revenue: TS EHBREMNE DL

from the largest customer RAE PR
from the five largest customers in AAREFPEHEL
aggregate
Approximate % of total cost of services LA T &IBAE B E £ R A LR
incurred: MBS -
from the largest cost of services AR AME
from the five largest cost of services R RBRBKAE HE L

in aggregate
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Year ended Year ended

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
BEZ-ZE—-= HE-ZE—-—

+=RA=+—H +ZA=+—H

LEFE HEE

80.8 49.0

97.7 98.0

85.9 55.0

81.8 91.3
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors who owned more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had any interest in the five largest customers
nor suppliers during the Year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Year
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report. All of the Group's related party transactions are fully
exempted from the independent Shareholders’ approval, annual review
and all disclosure requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Pak Fai, as tenant, and Ma Do Success Limited (a company owned by
Mr. Adam Cheung, Ms. LC Cheung, Mr. Ma Kan Sun and his elder
sister as to 40%, 30%, 15% and 15%, respectively), as landlord,
entered into a tenancy agreement dated 10 June 2020 (the “Tenancy
Agreement”), for the rental of a property located at Room 10, 2/F,
Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with an aggregate floor area of approximately 377 square
feet which is used as an office. The tenancy has been renewed and the
latest renewal was on 1 January 2023 for a period from 1 January 2023
to 31 July 2023, with a rental of HK$14,055 per month (exclusive of
management fee and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance.

The tenancy disclosed above constitutes a connected transaction of
the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The rent payable
under the tenancy disclosed above was determined after arm'’s length
negotiations between the parties thereto with reference to the market
rent payable for comparable premises and is in line with the market
level.
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Further details of other continuing connected transactions of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in the
Prospectus.

During the Year, the Company has complied with the applicable
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
relation to any connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that
the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public float for the
Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report.

Events After the Reporting Period

There have been no significant subsequent event occurred after 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this annual report which require
disclosure.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's results of operation may vary significantly from time to
time depending on, among other factors, the political and economic
environment, level of competitiveness, the quality of service and
timeliness of subcontractors, and the adequacy and efficiency of internal
processes implemented by staff and systems. The Group believes that
there are certain risks and uncertainties involved both in the markets
and in the operations which can be summarised as below.
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Operational Risks

Due to unexpected circumstances such as bad weather and geological
issues, the actual time and costs incurred in construction projects may
exceed the Group’s estimation at the time of tendering submission and
the work in progress may be interrupted. As a result, such variation
could adversely affect the Group’s operations and financial results. In
such situations, the Group will implement measures such as re-allocating
human resources and recruiting additional manpower including
subcontracting the works in order to expedite the work progress.

On the other hand, it is inevitable that there could be chance of
industrial accidents happened. In order to minimise the rate of accidents,
the Group has already recruited sufficient safety officers to regularly
monitor the work environment, implementation of safety rules and
regulations and establishing safety policies. In addition, the Group also
appointed a registered safety auditor to conduct corporate safety audit
semi-annually to maximise the effectiveness of safety management.

It is quite common in the construction industry that collection of
receivables takes longer time and it may lead to late settlement by
customers especially at the times of unexpected crises due to political
and economic factors. To mitigate the pressure of financial liquidity,
the Group produces aging analysis on regular basis and contacts the
management level of the customers so as to get a better understanding
of their solvency status.

Market Risks

Due to the construction industry in Hong Kong is dominantly subject
to Government'’s large-scale infrastructure projects and such projects
would require prolonged process of legislative approval, it is more
passive toward the future’s prospect of the industry. Nevertheless, the
Group will not just rely on participating in projects from public sector
but the Group will also be more involved in projects from the private
sectors.

In the meantime, demand of residential and commercial buildings has
been growing continuously. The Group perceived that such demand
will sustain the booming in the construction industry and attract more
competitive entrants to the industry. In order to grip holding of the
market shares, the Group acquired new machineries to cope with the
demand. With its in-depth experience and knowledge in the field, the
Group is capable to continue providing one-stop construction machinery
service to meet the needs of various customers.
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Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing,
holding, disposing of, dealing in or exercising of any rights in relation to
the Shares, they are advised to consult their professional advisers.

Independent Auditor

On 30 November 2023, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited (“HLB")
resigned as the auditor of the Company. HLB was appointed as the
auditors of the Company to fill the vacancy following the resignation of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu on 20 November 2020.

On 30 November 2023, the Company appointed Wilson & Partners
CPA Limited (“Wilson & Partners”) as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 30 November 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by Wilson & Partners.

Wilson & Partners will retire and, be eligible, will offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Wilson & Partners as the auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the Company’s
auditors during the past three years (including the Reporting Period).

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions
under the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code as explained in the Corporate Governance Report.

The details of the Group’s compliance with the CG Code are set out in

the Corporate Governance Report from pages 35 to 49 of this annual
report.
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Environmental Policy

Sustainability is one of the key factors to the Group’s development,
as well as for the viability of its business and the welfare of the
community. The Group is committed to offering premium products and
services to obtain customer satisfaction all round. In recent years, the
Group has been looking for ways to minimise the adverse impact of its
businesses on the environment (i.e. air and noise pollution) by improving
operational efficiencies and implementing eco-friendly measures. The
Group will continue to strive for energy-saving and environmental-
friendly equipment and materials for its construction projects. The Group
will regularly review related policy to promote awareness and practices
on resource usage reduction, waste reduction and energy conservation,
and be more active in involving various community programmes and
contributing to the society.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the Directors and senior management of the Company are
aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group during the Year.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (5RE#) (formerly known as Mr.
Cheung Kwok Fai (5B Z)), aged 64, is the chairman of the Board,
the chief executive officer of the Company, an executive Director and
one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019
and was re-designated as an executive Director and appointed as
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company on 22
July 2019. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee. He is
responsible for the overall management and overseeing and monitoring
of the projects of the Group.

Mr. Adam Cheung has over 33 years of experience in the construction
industry. He joined the Group in April 1990 when he started working
as a manager at Pak Fai. He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau
since December 1992 and April 1997 respectively.

Mr. Adam Cheung is the uncle of Mr. Ng Sheung Chung, an executive
Director, the uncle of Mr. Ma Kan Sun, an executive Director, and the
brother of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the Controlling Shareholders.

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung (£ &) (“Mr. Ng”), aged 49, is an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was
re-designated as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible
for the overall management and business development of the Group.

Mr. Ng obtained a Higher Diploma in Computer Engineering (With
Credit) from the Hong Kong Technical Colleges in June 1997.

Mr. Ng has over 22 years of experience in the construction industry.
Since June 2001, he has been working at Pak Fai and his major job
duties are review of contracts, material lists and price lists and assist the
company in preliminary project cost estimations. Since January 2010, he
has also been working at Ma Yau as a manager. Since September 2011,
he has been a director of both Pak Fai and Ma Yau.

Mr. Ng is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director and
one of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ma Kan Sun,
an executive Director, and the nephew of Ms. LC Cheung, one of the
Controlling Shareholders.
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Mr. Ma Kan Sun (E5EH) (“Mr. Ma”), aged 43, is an executive
Director. He was appointed as a Director on 30 January 2019 and was
redesignated as an executive Director on 22 July 2019. He is responsible
for the overall project management, administrative matters and safety
management of the Group.

Mr. Ma completed the Safety & Health Supervisor Training Course
(Construction Industry) in August 2012. Since then, he has supervised
the Safety Department and is also responsible for the safety
management system of the Group. Mr. Ma received secondary
education in Canada.

Mr. Ma first joined the Group when he was employed by Pak Fai as a
site foreman from May 2002 to June 2004. After pursuing other career
opportunities, he returned to Pak Fai as an office manager in March
2011. He has been a director of Pak Fai and Ma Yau since March 2017
and September 2011 respectively.

Mr. Ma is the nephew of Mr. Adam Cheung, an executive Director
and one of the Controlling Shareholders, the cousin of Mr. Ng Sheung
Chung, an executive Director, and the son of Ms. LC Cheung, one of
the Controlling Shareholders.

Independent non-executive Directors

Ms. Ding Xin (T B7) (“Ms. Ding”), aged 36, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 April 2022. She is also the
chairlady of the Audit Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. She is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of
conduct of the Group.

Ms. Ding holds a bachelor degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and Finance from The University of Hong Kong. She
has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since March 2014.
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Ms. Ding has more than 12 years of experience in accounts, audit
and assurance. Ms. Ding worked at different sizeable international
enterprises from 2012 to 2021. Ms. Ding is currently practising as
certified public accountant and is the sole proprietor of Ding Xin
Certified Public Accountant (Practising).

Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia (£ #) (“Ms. Lo"), aged 63, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 1 April 2022. She is also
the chairlady of the Remuneration Committee, and also a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. She is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and
standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Lo has over 34 years of working experience in insurance, asset
management and financial planning field. She is currently an insurance
practitioner as fellow of Life Management Institute, an associate of each
of Insurance Regulatory Compliance, Customer Service and Insurance
Agency Administration of Life Office Management Association, Inc.
and an associate of Life and Health Claims of International Claim
Association. She is the Qualified Retirement Adviser and the Associate
Financial Planner of Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong, a
member of International Association of Registered Financial Consultants
Hong Kong and Macau Centre Company Limited and she also qualified
as the Fellow Chartered Financial Practitioner of The Life Underwriters
Association of Hong Kong. She is the Registered Financial Consultant of
International Association of Registered Financial Consultants and also
qualified as an Underwriting Life and Health Insurance.

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung (fTE3E) (“Mr. Ho"), aged 43, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 21 July 2019. He is
a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resource, key appoints and standard of
conduct of the Group.

Mr. Ho obtained a Professional Diploma in Construction Project
Management from The University of Hong Kong School of Professional
and Continuing Education in July 2005 and a Bachelor of Applied
Science (Construction Management and Economics) from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia in February 2008.
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Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Ho has over 23 years of experience in the construction industry. He
has worked at various construction contractors in Hong Kong, including
Gammon Construction Limited where his last position was construction
supervisor from August 2000 to May 2008, Kin Sum Construction
Company Limited where he was a site engineer from December 2010 to
February 2014, New City Construction Company Limited as a site agent
from March 2014 to December 2015, and Chi Sum Engineering Limited
as an assistant project manager and director since January 2016.

Financial Controller and Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung (%) (“Mr. Tsui”), aged 36, is our Group's
company secretary. He is responsible for the overall company secretarial
matters of our Group.

Mr. Tsui has over 15 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management.
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The Company strives to attain and maintain a high standard of corporate
governance as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
are fundamental to enhancing shareholders’ value and safeguarding
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Board
attributes a high priority to identifying and implementing appropriate
corporate governance practices to ensure transparency, accountability
and effective internal controls.

Code on Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted the CG Code as set out in then Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules (currently Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules).
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has complied with the code provisions under the CG Code, except for
the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as explained
below. The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the operation and growth of the business of
the Group.

According to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the role of the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company are both
performed by Mr. Adam Cheung. In view of Mr. Adam Cheung'’s role
in the day-to-day management and operations of the Group, being
one of the controlling shareholders of the Group and as one of the
Directors if not the sole director of other members of the Group, as
at the date of this annual report, the Board believes that it is more
effective and efficient overall business planning and implementation of
business decisions and strategies of the Group that it shall be in the best
interests of the Group for Mr. Adam Cheung to take up the dual roles
of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company. Therefore,
the Board considers that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance and that there are
sufficient checks and balances in place by the operations of the Board,
which comprises experienced and high calibre individuals and adequate
independent element in the composition of the Board.
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The Board will continue to review and consider splitting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer of the Company at a time when
it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the circumstances
of the Group as a whole. The Directors are aware that the Company is
expected to comply with the CG Code. Any deviation from the CG Code
should be carefully considered and disclosed in the interim and annual
report. Save as disclosed above, the Company will continue to comply
with the CG Code to protect the best interests of the shareholders.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
transactions of securities of the Company by the Directors and the
relevant employees (who likely possess inside information of the
Company) (the “Securities Dealing Code") on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries by the Company, that they fully complied
with the Model Code and the Securities Dealing Code throughout the
Year to the date of this annual report.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for formulating business strategies and
monitoring the performance of the business of the Group. Other than
the daily operational decisions which are delegated to the management
of the Group, most of the decisions are made by the Board. All
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought
a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules during the Year. As at the date of this annual report, The Board is
comprises of six members, including three executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors.
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As at the date of this annual report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung
Mr. Ma Kan Sun

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung
Ms. Ding Xin
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between board
members are set out on pages 31 to 34 of this annual report.

The Company has signed a letter of appointment with each of
the independent non-executive Directors upon their appointment
respectively. The principal particulars of these appointment letters are
(a) each of them agreed to act for an initial term of one year with a
director’s fee, which may be terminated by not less than one month’
written notice served by either party on the other, and (b) is subject to
termination provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation
of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every 3
years. However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent
in accordance with the terms of the guidelines during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report. The Company has also complied
with Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. One of the independent non-
executive Directors possesses the appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management expertise.
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During the Year, four Board meetings and one annual general meeting
were held and the attendance record of each Director is set out in the

table below:

Directors

=

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B BB ST A
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFITHAAE)

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung hiELE

Mr. Ma Kan Sun BERBLE

Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITES

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung o] B #E 5L A

Ms. Ding Xin T+

Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia BRI L

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related
materials, and the advice and services of the Company Secretary,
and has the liberty to seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense if so reasonably required. Directors will be
continuously updated on the major development of the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and
upkeep of good corporate governance practices. The Company expects
to convene at least four regular Board meetings in each financial year at
approximately quarterly intervals in accordance with code provision C.5.1
of the CG Code.

RAFEE  ARBBTOREZTEEEN N —
BRBERE %i%ﬁfﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁéT%-

Attendance/Number
of Meeting
R EERE
Board Annual General
Meeting Meeting
Exe RRBFARE
4/4 11
4/4 11
4/4 11
4/4 11
4/4 171
4/4 11
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Continuous Professional Development

The Company encourages the Directors to attend any relevant
programme to further enhance their knowledge so as to enable them
to discharge their duties and responsibilities more effectively. All
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials and attended a
training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director,
the CG Code, the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations and
duty of disclosure of interest. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged from time to time.

All Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam, Mr. Ng Sheung
Chung, Mr. Ma Kan Sun, Ms. Ding Xin, Ms Lo Yin Ping Patricia and Mr.
Ho Kwok Lung, have provided record of their training during the Year
by way of among others, reviewing materials relating to their duties
under the Listing Rules, and thus complied with Code Provision C.1.4
of the CG Code. The Company will continue to arrange and fund the
training of the Directors in accordance with the CG Code provisions.

Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee. The table below
provides the membership information of these committees on which
certain Board members served:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Directors Committee Committee Committee
== EZZEEE REZEEY FMEESE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam  SREES A4 - C -
Ms. Ding Xin Tzt C M M
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia R L M M C
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung I ERE % £ M M M
Notes: MisE

C — Chairman of the relevant Committee
M — Member of the relevant Committee
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 July 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision D.3.3 of the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, (a) making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditors and approving the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditors; (b) reviewing the
Company'’s financial statements, the annual report and accounts and
the half-year report and significant financial reporting judgments
contained therein; and (c) reviewing the Company'’s financial controls,
internal control and risk management systems. As at the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ding Xin, Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia
and Mr. Ho Kwok Lung. Ms. Ding Xin is the chairlady of the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee has held two meetings to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and the
financial results for the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the year
ended 31 December 2022, whether there was any significant issues
on financial reporting, internal control and risk management systems
and the re-appointment and remuneration of the external auditor. The
individual attendance record of each member at the meeting of Audit
Committee is set out below:

Name of member of the Audit Committee

EVEESRENRSE

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung A BBE 5 4
Ms. Ding Xin Tzt
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia BRSELZ L
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RUBEZZEGUH CEERBRE - BRE
BezI2RERERER@REE &1
KRERIINBZBMAEFTSEHEBES I
it & BB S BB A BB 2 3 B 2 (55K 0 () B
ARz FHmE - FHEER - FFERER
HAp M EAM B RS HE - ROBHAR
Bl A EEHE - MBS R AR EE RS - 1
AEFREH  BERZEGH=-RBIUIIFNTE
=R BT TR L~ BEECE R RIATBIRESL
Ho THREIRERZEGEE -

MAFE  BZLZEGRITTMAGE AT
BAEERANETRAIRENUERBE=F
ZEFRA=THERERARBE-_T=_=

TZA=T—BIEFENPBES HEBER
BIRSHRE - B SARbR B IR R LA R NER
B EFNTHNFHNESEEMEANM
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HERE
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2/2

2/2
2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 July 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1
of the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the corporate strategy; (b) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and selecting or
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (c) assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; (d) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of and succession
planning for the Directors; (e) reviewing the board diversity policy of
the Company (“Board Diversity Policy”); and (f) developing and
reviewing, as appropriate, the policy for the nomination of Directors. As
at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Ding Xin, Ms.
Lo Yin Ping Patricia and Mr. Ho Kwok Lung and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam. Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, the resignation
and possible appointment of Directors, the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, the Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Policy as well as to consider and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment of new Directors and reappointment of
the Directors standing for re-election at the annual general meeting of
the Company held in 2023. The attendance record of each Director is
set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Nomination Committee

REZEEHENSR

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam o B BB 5T A
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung A B BE 5L A
Ms. Ding Xin Tt
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia BECY L
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Meeting
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company. In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board has been
considering from a number of perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills, and knowledge. The ultimate decision
is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from
time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor its
implementation by conducting review of the Board’'s composition at
least once annually.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two female
and four male Directors. The Board considers that the gender diversity
in respect of the Board taking into account the business model and
specific needs of the Company is satisfactory.

The Group has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. Currently, the male to female
ratio in the workforce of the Group including senior management is
approximately 7:1. The Board considers that the gender diversity in
workforce is currently achieved.

Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) for the purpose to identify and evaluate a candidate for
nomination to the Board for appointment or to the shareholders for
election as a Director. The Nomination Committee shall consider, among
others, the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o Reputation for integrity;

o Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant
industry and other relevant sectors;

° Commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and attention
to the Company’s business;
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o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, experience (professional or
otherwise), skills and knowledge;

o The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

o Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the appointment of an
independent non-executive Director; and

o Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Committee or the Board from time to time.

Each proposed new appointment, election or re-election of a Director
shall be assessed and/or considered against the criteria and qualifications
set out in the Nomination Policy by the Nomination Committee which
shall recommend its views to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration and determination.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 July
2019 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of
the Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee, under the principle that no
Director or any of his associates should be involved in deciding his
own remuneration include, among others, making recommendations
to the Board on (a) the remuneration policy and structure for all
of the Directors and senior management; (b) the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policies; (c) the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors. As at the date of this annual report,
the Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia, Ms. Ding Xin and
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung. Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia is the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings
to consider the appointment terms for the new Directors, review the
remuneration policy and package of the executive Directors and senior
management of the Group, and reviewing the remuneration of the
independent non-executive Directors. The attendance record of each
Director is set out in the table below:

Name of member of
the Remuneration Committee

FHESERERR

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung {a] B #E 5L A
Ms. Ding Xin Tzt
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia EARSF R+

Full details of remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees are provided in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

No material matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules were required to be reviewed or approved by the
Remuneration Committee during the Year.

Company Secretary

Mr. Tsui Chun Hung, was appointed as the Company Secretary on 30
January 2019. Please refer to the section “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” for his biographical information. During the Year,
Mr. Tsui Chun Hung has undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year, which give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group on a going concern basis and are in compliance with
the relevant accounting standard and principles, applicable laws and
disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The Directors aim to present a
clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position
and prospects. The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the external auditors with respect to the financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

One of the major functions of the Board is to maintain an adequate risk
management and internal control systems to safequard shareholders’
investments and the Group's assets, and review their effectiveness
annually through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reports
to the Board on any material issues and makes recommendations to the
Board.

Policies and procedures have been designed to safeguard assets against
unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance with applicable
law, rules and regulations. The policies and procedures provide
a reasonable assurance that material misstatements or losses are
prevented, potential interruption of the Group’s management system
is detected, and risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group’s
objectives are properly managed.
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During the Year, the Company engaged an external independent
consulting firm to review the effectiveness of certain of the Group's risk
management and internal controls systems. Relevant recommendations
made by the consultant have already been implemented in stages by the
Group to further enhance its internal control policies, procedures and
practices. The Board considered that the Group's risk management and
internal control systems were effective and adequate during the Year.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a need
for an internal audit department. Given the Group's relatively simple
corporate and operation structure, as opposed to diverting resources to
establish a separate internal audit department, the Board, supported by
the Audit Committee, is directly responsible for risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

Auditor’'s Remuneration

For the Year, Wilson & Partners CPA Limited was engaged as the
Group’s independent auditor following the resignation of HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the auditor of the Company on 30
November 2023. The statement of the auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the Year is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
of this annual report. During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable
to the Company’'s auditor, Wilson & Partners CPA Limited, and their
affiliated firms, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was as
follows:

Audit services
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Directors and Officers Insurance

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ liabilities have been in
force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk
exposure from the business of the Group during the Year.

Human Resources

The Group is committed to promoting a sound corporate culture by
setting out culture values including (but not limited to) lawful; discipline;
ethics and integrity; responsibly; trust; and prudence. The culture values
are articulated in policies, procedures and processes that are relevant to
the day-to-day or routine business/supporting operations, training and
performance appraisal of the Group's staff.

Investor Relations and Communication with
Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with all
shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level of
transparency is a key to enhance investor relations.

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy
and established several communication channels, including (a) the
annual and extraordinary general meetings which provide a forum
for shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (b) printed
corporate documents mailing to shareholders; (c) announcement
disseminating the latest activities of the Group on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and (d) the Company’s website
providing an electronic means of communication.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company'’s Shareholders” Communication Policy including steps taken
at the general meetings and the multiple channels of communication
and engagement in place, and considered that the Shareholders’
Communication Policy has been properly implemented during the Year
under review and is effective.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM") are subject to the Articles (as amended from
time to time), and the applicable legislation and regulation, in particular
the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time):

(a)

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles, any one or more
shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the voting rights at the general meeting
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition;

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business at Room 9, 2/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28
Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and such may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists;

The requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the
reason(s) to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es)
proposed to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned together with a deposit of
a sum of money reasonable sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and circulating
the statement submitted by the shareholders concerned in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders;
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(d)  The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified
as not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to
deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for
the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call
for an EGM; and

(e) If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible
Shareholder(s) by the Company.

Procedures by which Enquiries may be put to the
Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board. Such
enquiries can be addressed to the Company Secretary in writing by mail
to the Company'’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
9, 2/F, Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28 Shanghai Street, Jordan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles or the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands for Shareholders to put forward new resolutions
at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to put forward a new
resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in
accordance with the procedures set out in the above paragraph headed
“Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an EGM”.
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Section 1.1: About the Company

Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to present the Environmental,
Social and Governance (the “"ESG") Report (the “ESG Report”) for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”). As an established
subcontractor in Hong Kong, The Group principally engages in i)
provision of wet trades works and other wet trades related ancillary
works and ii) provision of construction information technology services.
Wet trades works include plastering on floors, walls and ceilings, tile
laying on internal and external walls and floors, brick laying and marble
works. The Group provides wet trades works through our principal
operating subsidiaries, namely, Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai")
and Ma Yau Engineering Limited (“Ma Yau").

together with its

Section 1.2: Board Statement

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Reporting Period”)
in the following to illustrate and highlight our efforts and performance
in achieving sustainable development in various ESG-related aspects.

Board and Governance Structure

The Group understands its responsibility and is committed to protecting
and enhancing long-term shareholder value, leading, and stewarding
the Group with the aim to achieve long-term returns and generate a
positive impact on the society and the environment. To achieve this
goal, the Group has developed various ESG-related management
systems to ensure its governance is aligned with its ESG strategic
growth, while advocating for the integration of ESG into its business
operations. The structure of ESG governance mainly comprised of two
components, including the Board and the departments designated for
managing ESG-related matters (the “ESG Management Team”).
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the management of the
Group and is collectively responsible to ensure the sustainability of the
Group's development. The Board is responsible for formulating the
ESG strategies of the Group, monitoring the ESG performance of its
operation, reviewing the effectiveness of the ESG management system
and determining the ESG policies of the Group. The chairman of the
Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic planning and leadership
of the Group, while senior management and ESG Management Team
are responsible for effective implementation of the strategies formulated
by the Board.

The ESG Management Team is responsible for effective implementation
of the strategies formulated by the Board. It comprises of core members
from different departments of the Group with relevant expertise for
effective oversight on ESG-related matters, including but not limited to:

o Financial expertise: understand the financial implication of
ESG issues, analyze the financial impact of ESG risks and
opportunities, assess the financial performance of sustainability
initiatives, and ensure the ESG risks are integrated into financial
reporting.

o Risk management expertise: identify and assess ESG risks,
develop risk mitigation strategies, and ensure that ESG risks are
appropriately monitored and reported.

o Human resource expertise: manage people and foster a positive
workplace culture to ensure that the Group has effective
diversity, equity, and inclusion policies to monitor labour practices
and support employee well-being.

The ESG Management Team facilitates the Board’s oversight of ESG
related matters through a formalized communication protocol and has
the responsibility for collecting and analysing ESG data, monitoring and
evaluating the Group’s ESG performance, and preparing ESG reports.
The ESG Management Team arranges meetings to discuss and review
ESG-related matters, including but not limited to the Group’s ESG-
related performance, ESG-related policies and procedures, as well as the
Group's strategic goals in terms of sustainable development. The ESG
Management Team reports to the Board annually and assists the Board
to discharges its oversight responsibility.
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To effectively monitor the progress against ESG-related targets, the Board
works with the ESG Management Team to establish clear qualitative
and quantitative ESG metrics to facilitate the Board’s evaluation of
the Group’s ESG performance. These metrics cover environmental,
social, and governance aspects of the Group’s operations and would
be monitored and reported to the Board on a regular basis with
comparison with the historical data and selection of baseline as target.
In the meantime, the Board and ESG Management Team would
continuously review and enhance the Group’s ESG-related practices to
identify areas for enhancement. Where targets are not achieved, the
ESG Management Team would report the reasons to the Board, further
assess what can be done to achieve and/or whether any adjustments
should be made to the targets.

For details of the metric monitoring and targets set, please refer to the
following sections of this ESG Report which summarises the related
ESG key performance indicator (“KPI"”) data and targets of the Group’s
major operating revenue activities.

Our ESG Management System Certification

To ensure the effective implementation of ESG development strategies,
the Group highly values the establishment of various management
systems. Based on different international standards for ESG-related
management systems, the Group formulates and implements
sustainable development strategies at all levels. Meanwhile, the Group
has obtained the following major certifications:

o ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management Certification

o OHSAS 18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety
Management Certification

o ISO 9001:2015 Quality Management Certification
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Review and Approval

Information in the ESG Report was sourced from the official documents,
statistical data and management and operational information of and
collected by the Group. The ESG Report has undergone the internal
review process of the Group and was approved by the Board.

Opinion and Feedback

Comments and suggestions are welcome from our stakeholders. You
may provide comments on the ESG Report or towards our performance
in respect of sustainable development via the following channels:

Address: Room 9, 2/F., Hang Bong Commercial Centre,

28 Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@handsform.com
Telephone: 2787 7789

Section 1.3: Stakeholder Engagement

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding its
businesses and ESG aspects. To understand and address their key
concerns, the Group has maintained close communication with its key
stakeholders, including but not limited to investors and shareholders,
customers, suppliers and contractors, employees, the community, non-
governmental organisations and media.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Group
takes into account our stakeholders’ expectations and concerns, and
strives to improve our performance through mutual cooperation with
stakeholders. The Group has maintained close communication with our
key stakeholders by utilising diversified key communication channels,
shown as below:
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Key Stakeholders
FTEFHOE

Investors and shareholders

BREERBIR

Customers

P

Suppliers and contractors

HIER N AR

Employees

(=]

The community, non-governmental
organisations and media
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Communication Channels

BERE

¢ Annual general meeting and other
shareholder meetings
BRRBFARE REMBRRAE

e Financial reports
MsmE

e Announcements and circulars

NE KB

e Tender meetings
rReR

®  Project briefings
TR B &R

e Construction site regular meetings

(including status meeting and safety

meeting)
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e Telephone interviews and
communication

B A MBI

e Regular management meetings
ETHEREESZ

e Regular performance appraisals
TEEARIRFT A

¢ Internal announcement
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Charity events
RERD

e ESG reports

R g RERRE

Expectations and Concerns

HERBEER

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BT EBERIER

Financial results

BURLE S

Service quality
R%EE
Service delivery time and quality

RIGZ A R E &

Supply chain management

HrEgEEe

Occupational health and safety
BEREREARTS

Equal opportunities

FE#E

Remuneration and benefits
i K rE A

Career development

BERER

Giving back to society

Ol gt &
Environmental protection
RIGRE

Through collaborating with the stakeholders, the Group strives to
further improve its ESG initiatives to create greater value for the
community on a continuous basis.
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Section 1.4: Materiality Assessment

The Group engaged with various stakeholders throughout the Year to
identify and prioritise the issues which the Board believes would have
significant impact on the Group’s businesses and its stakeholders. The
ESG Management Team has participated in preparing the ESG Report,
assisting the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying key ESG
issues and assessing the importance of these issues to our businesses
and stakeholders. Key Stages include:

o Identification: Selected of ESG issues that may reasonably
be considered important for the Group and its stakeholders
from various sources, including the industry trends and internal
policies.

o Prioritisation: Conducted surveys to rate the level of influence
on stakeholders, assessments and decisions, and the level of
significance of economic, environmental, and social impacts of
each issue and the Group using a scale of 1 to 5. Developed the
materiality matrix based on the scores of the surveys, set the
threshold for materiality (i.e. at a score of average) and prioritised
a list of sustainability issues.

o Validation: ESG Management Team reviewed the materiality
matrix and the threshold for materiality. ESG issues, with a
score of average or above were prioritised as the important
sustainability issues for the Group to consider and address.
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Based on the materiality assessment, the Group’s material sustainability
aspects have been covered in the ESG Report and the materiality matrix
is as follow:
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R

The Group's Materiality Matrix for 2023
AEBER T =FNEZtER

High

=

Supply Chain
Management
HrERE R

Corporate Social
Responsibility
EUEEE

" Greenhouse Gas
Energy Consumption (GHG) Emissions

B

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS' ASSESSMENTS AND DECISIONS
HIH BRI RORE 2 VB

Occupational Health

Low

& LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL IMPACTS
HGH R R ENRERE

SECTION 2: ABOUT THE REPORT
Section 2.1: Scope of Reporting

The Group has carefully evaluated its business entities and operations
based on the principle of materiality and considered its core business
and main revenue sources. The scope of this ESG Report includes
two principal operating subsidiaries namely, Pak Fai and Ma Yau, and
the Group's office and warehouse in Hong Kong. The two principal
operating subsidiaries are accountable for majority of the Group’s total
revenue for the Year.

Unless stated otherwise, the ESG Report summarises the initiatives,
policies, and related ESG KPI data of the Group’s major operating
revenue activities under the two principal operating subsidiaries which
are limited in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to assess the major
ESG aspects of different businesses to determine whether they need to
be included in the ESG reporting.
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Section 2.2: Reporting Framework

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as enclosed in the Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with the aim to inform relevant parties
and stakeholders of our policies, measures and performance regarding
environmental, social and governance issues. To ensure a comprehensive
ESG reporting, we would continuously take note of different ESG issues
and assess their relevance to our ESG reporting.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance structure
and practices has been set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 35 to 49 of this annual report.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency during the preparation of the ESG Report. The
Group has applied these reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide
as the following:

o Materiality: We continuously collect opinions from stakeholders
and determine the ESG issues to be covered and key points to be
reported in the ESG Report based on the materiality assessment
which was conducted to identify material issues during the Year,
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for
the preparation of the ESG Report. The materiality of issues was
reviewed and confirmed by the Board and the ESG Management
Team. Please refer to the section headed “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.
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Quantitative: We measured the key performance indicators with
reference to the principles listed in the ESG Reporting Guide,
including collecting environmental and social data from various
departments, verifying documents, calculating, and disclosing
data, and finally submitting the ESG Report to the Board for
review after being verified by the ESG Management Team. The
standards and methodologies used in calculation of relevant data
in the ESG Report, as well as the applicable assumptions were
disclosed. The KPIs were supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

Balance: The ESG Report was prepared based on an objective
and impartial manner to ensure that the information disclosed
faithfully reflects the overall ESG performance of the Group.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to this ESG
Report were substantially consistent with the previous year, and
explanations were provided regarding data with changes in the
scope of disclosure and calculation methodologies. If there are
any changes that may affect comparison with previous reports,
the Group will add comments to the corresponding content of
this ESG Report.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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SECTION 3: ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

The Group strives to protect the environment through the
implementation of relevant policies and measures in its business
activities and workplace. The Group has formulated relevant
policies relating to environmental management in accordance
with the ISO 14001:2015 certification to govern environmental
management and minimise the impact caused by our operations.
The Group carries out a series of environmental management
measures at construction sites, covering planning, procurement
and various project procedures.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to air and greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste including but not limited to, the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance, Waste Disposal Ordinance and Noise Control
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact on the Group.

A1.1 Exhaust Gas Emissions

As a corporation providing wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works, the Group’s exhaust
gas emissions are limited to emission generated by
forklifts, and the Group considers the relevant exhaust gas
emissions generated are insignificant. However, the Group
still strives to mitigate the exhaust gas generated from our
business as much as possible. Fuel consumption reduction
measures for forklifts have been carried out and will be
described in the section headed “GHG Emissions” under
this aspect.
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A1.3
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GHG Emissions

The major sources of GHG emissions of the Group are
diesel consumption for forklifts (Scope 1) and electricity
consumption for the office (Scope 2). During the Year, the
Group had generated a total of approximately 9.67 tCO,e
(2022: 13.67 tCO,e) GHG emissions which consisted of
approximately 6.88 tCO,e (2022: 11.13 tCO,e) Scope 1
GHG emissions and approximately 2.79 tCO,e (2022: 2.54
tCO,e) Scope 2 GHG emissions. Based on the total
revenue of the Group during the Year, the intensity of
total GHG emissions was approximately 0.12 tCO,e/
million HK$ revenue! (2022: 0.11 tCOe/million HK$
revenue).

The Group has set a 5-year target to reduce 10% of
GHG emissions intensity (tCO,e/million HK$ revenue)
in FY2022. To mitigate GHG emissions and achieve the
target, the Group encourages workers to switch off
engine whenever the forklifts are idled and plan routes
ahead of time to reduce route repetition. Our forklifts
undergo regular maintenance service to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use. With such measures
implemented, emissions from diesel consumption for
forklifts will be minimised and employees’ awareness on
GHG emissions reduction will be enhanced. The Board will
conduct a comprehensive review at the end of the period
to assess the achievement of said target.

Hazardous Wastes

Due to our business nature, the Group did not generate a
significant amount of hazardous wastes during the Year.
In case there are any hazardous wastes produced, the
Group must engage a qualified chemical waste collector
to handle such wastes in order to comply with the relevant
environmental laws and regulations.

! During the Year, the total revenue of the Group was approximately HK$82.41 million.
This number would also be used for calculating other intensity data in the ESG Report.
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A1.4 Non-hazardous Wastes

As the construction projects of the Group are outsourced
to subcontractors, the non-hazardous wastes generated by
the Group’s operations mainly consist of paper consumed
in the office. During the Year, the Group had generated
a total of approximately 363.48 kg non-hazardous wastes
(2022: 304.85 kg) with an intensity of approximately 4.41
kg/million HK$ revenue.

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group has set a 5-year target to reduce 10% of non-
hazardous wastes intensity (kg/million HK$ revenue)
in FY2022. In order to minimize the environmental
impact from nonhazardous wastes generated from
the consumption of paper and achieve the target, the
Group regularly monitors the consumption of paper, and
encourages the use of electronic media for communication
and double-sided printing wherever possible. To promote
reusing paper, a collection box for single-sided used paper
is placed next to each printer and reminders are posted in
the office. With such measures implemented, employees’
awareness on paper consumption reduction has been
enhanced. The Board will conduct a comprehensive review
at the end of the period to assess the achievement of said
target.

Wastes Reduction and Initiatives

The Group has developed Green Office Practice to
encourage wise use of resources while promoting waste
reduction at source. The Group promotes paperless
office—=documents and information are transmitted
electronically to avoid paper consumption. When printing
is inevitable, paper should be printed on both sides
whenever possible. The Group also encourages employees
to recycle paper, plastic bottle and tin can. No formal
policy on waste reduction has been established to regulate
its subcontractors. Nevertheless, they are encouraged
to reduce waste and reuse resources to minimize the
environmental impacts.
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A2. Use of Resources

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource
efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations,
and is committed to optimising the use of resources in all of its
business operations.

During our daily operation, fuel and electricity are the major
energy consumed. The Group has established relevant policies
and procedures in governing the efficient use of resources, in
reference to the objective of achieving higher energy efficiency
and reducing the use of unnecessary materials.

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The Group’s major sources of energy consumption are
diesel consumption for forklifts and purchased electricity
for the office. During the Year, the Group had consumed
a total of approximately 28,128.12 kWh (2022: 45,499.49
kWh) diesel and approximately 7,533.00 kWh (2022:
6,873.30 kWh) electricity. Total energy consumption was
approximately 35,661.12 kWh (2022: 52,372.69 kwh)
and the intensity was 432.73 kWh/million HK$ revenue
(2022: 411.09 kWh/million HK$ revenue). The significant
change in total energy consumption is mainly due to the
decrease in diesel consumption of the forklifts.

A2.2 Water Consumption

The Group's water consumption mainly consists of water
consumed in the office. The Group’s water consumption
expenses are included in the property management fee,
and therefore the Group did not have water consumption
record during the Year. Due to our operating locations,
the Group does not encounter any significant issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Still, the Group is
dedicated to promoting behavioural changes in water
usage at offices and encouraging water conservation.
Environmental signages with water-saving messages
are posted in prominent places to remind employees to
conserve water.
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A2.3 Energy and A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group sets a 5-year target of reducing 10% of the
total energy consumption intensity (kWh/million HK$
revenue) in FY2022. Apart from the reduction measures
for forklifts mentioned, the Group places great emphasis
on electricity conservation to minimise the impact brought
by the Group’s operation to the environment. The Group
encourages our employees to set room temperature
ranges from 23°C to 25°C and switches off electrical
appliances to avoid unnecessary consumption. The Group
selects energy-efficient equipment where applicable
and will adopt immediate maintenance once damage is
reported. With such measures implemented, employees’
awareness on energy conservation has been enhanced.
The Board will conduct a comprehensive review at the end
of the period to assess the achievement of said target.

A2.4 Use of Packaging Materials

As the Group does not involve in any production process,
it does not consume packaging materials, hence this
aspect is considered as irrelevant to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group pursues best practices with the environment and
focuses on the impact of its operations on the environment and
natural resources. The Group has also integrated the concept of
environmental protection into is internal management and daily
operation activities and its committed to achieving the goal of
environmental sustainability.

The main resources used by the Group in its daily operations are
electricity and diesel which have been described in the section
headed “Use of Resources” of Aspect A2. Apart from that, the
Group will not use other natural resources in large quantities.
The Group’s environmental impact and the use of natural
resources have always been highly valued and it hopes to identify
and mitigate the impact by considering sustainable development
in all of its affairs.
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A4.

A3.1

Noise Management and Indoor Air Quality

The Group recognises that noise pollution may be
generated due to our business nature. Therefore, the
Group has implemented a number of measures to
reduce noise level and ensured that the quality of life
of the neighbourhood would not be severely disrupted.
Whenever the noise level exceeds the prescribed
level regulated by the Noise Control Ordinance and
other relevant guidelines issued by the Environmental
Protection Department, the Group will investigate the
underlying factors and make respective arrangements.
Silent equipment will be used where available and will
be maintained regularly. With the relevant measures,
the Group aims to minimise the impact brought to our
neighbourhood.

In addition, good indoor air quality is important for
employees who work in the office. Indoor air quality in our
workplace is regularly monitored. The Group has adopted
several measures to ensure a good indoor air quality at the
office, which include but not limited to conducting regular
cleaning of air conditioning system. With such measures,
indoor air quality is maintained.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the importance of the identification and
mitigation of significant climate-related matters; therefore, the
Group is committed to managing the potential climate-related

risks which may impact the Group’s business activities. The
Group has established risk management policy in identifying
and mitigating different risks including climate related risks.
The Board meets regularly and cooperates closely with key

management to identify and evaluate climate-related risks and to

formulate strategies to manage the identified risks.

Through the above method, the Group identified the material
impacts on the Group's business arising from the following risks:
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Climate-related matters
Physical Risks:

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can disrupt
the Group’s operations by damaging the power grid
and communication infrastructures, and injuring its
employees during their work, leading to reduced capacity
and decreased in productivity, or expose the Group
to risks associated with non-performance and delayed
performance. To minimise the potential risks and hazards,
the Group has flexible working arrangements and
precautionary measures during bad or extreme wealth
conditions.

Tradition Risks:

The Group anticipates that there will be more stringent
climate legislations and regulations to support the
global vision of carbon neutrality. From a listed
company'’s perspective, we acknowledge the increasing
requirements of climate-related information disclosures.
One example is the ESG Reporting Guide in respect
to significant climate-related impact disclosures of an
issuer. Stricter environmental laws and regulations may
expose enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits.
Corporate reputation may also decline due to failure to
meet the compliance requirements for climate change.
The Company’s related capital investment and compliance
costs thus increase. In response to the policy and legal
risks as well as reputation risks, the Group regularly
monitors existing and emerging trends, policies, and
regulations relevant to climate and be prepared to alert
the top management where necessary to avoid cost
increments, non-compliance fines and/or reputational risks
due to delayed response.
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SECTION 4: SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Employees’ qualification, professional skills and experiences
exert significant influence on the quality of services. As an
equal opportunity employer, the Group emphasises a fair,
open, objective, and non-discriminatory selection process. The
Group’s “Human Resources and Payroll Management Policies
and Procedures” regulates the recruitment procedures with the
principles of fairness and justice. The promotion of employees
is determined by appraisals that are conducted regularly by
the Human Resources (“"HR") Department to evaluate staffs’
work performance. The “HR Processes Manual” has listed the
process of appraisals and the types of appraisals in detail, namely
quarterly appraisals and yearly appraisals. The termination
of employment contracts is governed by internal policies to
ensure all dismissal comply with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong. The Group strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or
illegitimate dismissals. Our management conducts face-to-face
interviews with the resigned staff in order to understand our
employees’ opinions.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to employment including but not limited to, the Employment
Ordinance and the Minimum Wage Ordinance, that would have
a significant impact to the Group.

Workforce

The Group had experienced a decrease in the number of fulltime
employees from 16 as at 31 December 2022 to 14 as at 31
December 2023, all of whom are from Hong Kong. Out of the
total number of staff, 10 of our employees were male (2022: 14
male employees) and 4 of them were female (2022: 2 female
employees). The majority of the workforce were within the 31 -
60 age group, accounting for 10 of our staff, while 1 employee
was under 30 years old and 3 were over 60 years old.

During the Year, the Group’s overall full-time employee turnover
rate was approximately 12.5% (Full-time employee turnover rate
in 2022: 0%).
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Remuneration and Benefits

In order to attract and retain skillful employees, the remuneration
policy and package of the Group’s employees are periodically
reviewed. The salary and benefit levels of the Group’s employees
are competitive, and they are referenced to market conditions,
individual qualifications, and experience. Apart from the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"), medical insurance and
labour insurance are purchased for employees once they join
the Group, while salaries increment, and discretionary bonuses
may be awarded to employees according to the assessment of
individual performance and market conditions.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group is committed to creating and maintaining an inclusive
and collaborative workplace culture in which all can thrive.
The Group is dedicated to maintaining workplaces that are
free from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment against
any individual on the basis of race, religion, colour, gender,
physical or mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status,
and sexual orientation. The Group also has zero tolerance of
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace in any forms. Any
employee who is intimidated, humiliated, bullied or harassed
(including sexual harassment) may report to the employee’s
representative, or file complaints directly to the management
representative or the general manager, and the Group will take
serious approaches to resolve these issues upon receiving the said
complaints.
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B2.

Health and Safety

Employees’ safety is regarded as the top priority due to high-risk
activities and critical exposure of employees during specific works
such as construction at heights during the delivery of the Group’s
services. The Group is committed to providing healthy and safe
working environment for all employees and contractors, and
strives to achieve zero tolerance toward hazards, incidents, non-
compliance, and accidents.

Accredited by the OHSAS 18001:2007 certification, the
Group has established the “Safety and Health Policy” which is
reviewed by the Group’s management annually or once there
is a significant change in relevant regulations, the Group’s
governance structure or working environment. The Safety
Committee, which consists of managers, Safety Officer and
supervisors, is responsible for the effective implementation of
the policy. A “Safety Plan” is written for each project to support
the policy. To ensure the policy is up to date and applicable for
the current status of the project, our Safety Officer conducts
interviews with the construction site supervisors as well as the
site workers on the understanding of the policy.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong
related to health and safety including but not limited to, the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance, that would have a significant impact
to the Group.

During the Year, the Group has not recorded any incidents that
caused work-related fatality and injury in the past three years,
including the Year. Besides, there was no claims or compensation
for its employees due to such incidents, and no significant
violations of laws and regulations relating to employee’s health
and safety matters during the Year.
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Occupational Health and Safety

In order to control and mitigate the safety risks in our
construction projects, which may involve high-risk activities,
safety is treated as our first priority during the delivery of our
services. Clearly stated in the “Safety Plan”, all workers must
obtain the Construction Industry Safety Training Certificate (also
known as the green card). Our construction sites are equipped
with first-aid boxes and fire extinguishers. Various reminders are
also posted around the construction sites to ensure our workers
are wearing safety gears and aware of the dangerous area, and
accident statistics are prominently displayed at the same time.

The Group also demands our workers to be equipped with
personal protective equipment and ensure that the personal
protective equipment is effective. Personal protective equipment
can only be purchased from suppliers after consulting the
security consultant and discussing with the Safety Committee.
Relevant personal protective equipment, including but not limited
to helmets, safety goggles, hearing protectors, fall arrestors and
full-body safety harnesses, are provided to all on-site workers
in order to prevent accidents in high risks activities especially
at heights. Workers must receive trainings and instructions on
the correct usage of the personal protective equipment and
procedures for the maintenance, storage and replacement of
personal protective equipment.

In order to reduce incidents and enhance the Group’s image,
the Group aims to raise the employees’ awareness of health and
safety through safety trainings. There are mainly four types of
safety trainings, namely the guided courses, the Construction
Industry Safety Training Certificate programme, specific trainings,
and safety and health lectures. The Group provides appropriate
safety training to all management personnel, supervisors
and front-line employees. Employees are encouraged to take
initiatives to notify relevant safety trainings course. All new
employees must receive internal one-hour safety guidance
training within one week after on board.
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B3.

Development and Training

The Group recognises that staff training and development is a
strong pillar to the sustainable operation of the business and
driving force to drive future business growth. Adopting the
“Training and Development Policy”, the Group encourages
our employees to attend training programmes designed by the
Group, take initiative to assess skills and seek development
activities that match needs. Training officers and supervisors shall
work with staff to assess and provide feedback on their skills
and interests, advice and arrange training programs and develop
training materials and activities that match their needs of career
development objectives. They develop an annual development
plan to support employee development and plan a training
schedule for each employee.

During the Year, the percentage breakdown of employees
trained and the average training hours per employee, by gender
and employee category are as follows:
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Training programmes mainly consist of two types, namely
internal trainings and external trainings. External trainings
include conferences and forums. The HR Department encourages
employees to attend external training programs that focus on
topics of relevance to their position. For internal trainings, the
Group designs trainings for its employees regarding their own
needs of their job duty, position status, or experience. For new
hired employees, a set of orientation training materials including
company structure, “Code of Conduct” and “Safety Procedures”
and other relevant information developed by HR Department will
be provided on their first working day.

The Board is encouraged to attend external seminars and training
programmes at the Group’s expense to update themselves with
legal and regulatory developments, as well as the business and
market changes to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
Continuing briefing and professional development to directors
will be arranged whenever necessary.

Labour Standards

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during the
recruitment process as defined by laws and regulations. During
the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to the prevention of child or forced labour including but not
limited to, the Employment of Children Regulations and the
Employment Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to
the Group.

Personal data is collected during the process to assist in the
selection of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’ personal
data. The HR Department is responsible to ensure identity
documents are carefully checked. If violation is involved, it will
be dealt with the circumstances as clearly stated in the Group’s
“Employee Handbook”.

Furthermore, employees of the Group work overtime on a
voluntary basis to prevent any breaches of labour standards. The
Group also prohibits any punishments, management methods
and behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical punishment,
physical abuse, oppression, sexual harassment, etc. against our
employees for any reason.
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B5.

Supply Chain Management

The Group's suppliers mainly include suppliers of construction
materials and tooling, machinery and equipment rental service
providers and suppliers of safety consultancy services, repair
and maintenance services and logistics services. During the
Year, the Group had engaged 191 (2022: 246) suppliers and
subcontractors while all of them were located in Hong Kong.
The Group generally order the relevant construction materials
and services on a project-by-project basis, and therefore does not
enter into any long-term supply agreements with our suppliers.

To assess suppliers’ and subcontractors’ ability to supply
materials and deliver works which meet all the requirements and
specifications, the Group has designated procurement team to
formulated “Prequalification of Suppliers and Subcontractors”
policy to regulate the evaluation on suppliers’ and subcontractors’
performance, in which environmental and social factors are
considered and embedded throughout the procurement
process. Quotation is asked from at least three suppliers or
subcontractors from the supplier list or subcontractor list after
tender is confirmed. “Supplier Evaluation Form” is used to
evaluate suppliers’ performance before and after the completion
of the project on the quality of the materials delivered, ability
to meet requirement, competitive prices and deliveries on
schedule. The Group attends regular meetings with suppliers and
subcontractors in order to evaluate the performance of workers,
safety and environmental protective measures in the construction
sites, and quality of materials. Suppliers or subcontractors may be
suspended or removed from the approved list if they fail to align
with our green procurement standards.
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Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects are
the most important for the sustainable growth of the Group. Our
direct customers include main contractors and subcontractors of
various building construction projects in Hong Kong while the
ultimate owners of the projects undertaken by us mainly include
the Government and property developers. As a subcontractor,
the Group mainly secures our projects from contractors
through tenders by invitation. The Group strives to maintain
good relationship with our major customers to establish good
reputation and to gain future business opportunity.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided and methods
of redress including but not limited to, the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, that would
have a significant impact to the Group. There was no complaint
received during the Year. Given the Group’s business nature,
the Group was not involved in the sale of products, therefore
disclosure on product recall procedures and number of products
recalled are not applicable.

Project Quality Management

The Group’s quality management system has been accredited by
the 1SO 9001:2015 certification. The Group commits to fulfilling
our customers’ satisfaction with high quality construction service,
and implementing the “Project Tendering and Management
Policy” to ensure our clients’ requirements and expectations
are fully understood and documented. The Project Manager is
responsible to monitor the project progress and job workmanship
as per contractual and other requirements. The Contract
Manager will then review all documents referenced in the tender
received by the Group. The Tendering Department prepares
preliminaries tender notes after the review to record the project
details, specific contract payment terms and conditions, and the
information required to be submitted. Such information will be
brought to the Board for their acceptance or rejection of tender.
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Privacy Protection

Despite that the Group has limited access to our customers’
personal data due to our business nature, as a responsible service
provider, the Group has formulated internal policy to regulate the
handling of confidential information while protecting customers’
privacy. All confidential data related to the Group’s business and
customer information are securely protected and only used for
internal purpose. Any leakage of confidential information to the
third parties is strictly prohibited. As such, in carrying out our
operations, the Group adheres to the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance and expressly reiterates confidentiality obligations.

The Group is determined to strengthen the protection of
customers’ privacy. Our employees are trained to maintain
the confidentiality of our customers’ information which they
may have access to during work. The Group also standardizes
procedures for filing in order to protect confidential information.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has established relevant guidelines to govern the
information technology management within the Group. Besides,
the IT Department is responsible for obtaining proper licenses
for software, hardware, and information the Group uses in its
business operation. Duplication or downloading of information,
software, and images from the internet must be approved by
relevant departments. Furthermore, the Group closely monitor
the infringement actions in the market and prevent infringement
behavior, such as counterfeit trademarks.

Advertising and Labelling

As a subcontractor who provides wet trades works and other
wet trades related ancillary works, the Group does not have any
significant issues on advertising and labelling. Nevertheless, in
the Group's dealings with its clients, information provided should
be complete, true, accurate, clear, and comply with all relevant
laws and regulations regarding the proper advertising, including
but not limited to the Trade Descriptions Ordinance.
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Anti-corruption

The Group strives to achieve high standard of ethics in business
operations and does not tolerate any forms of corruptions,
frauds and all other behaviours violating work ethics. Unethical
or illegal events such as corruption, bribery, and collusion
strictly prohibited. The Group stipulates the disciplinary code
in the Employee Handbook and employees’ Code of Conduct,
and ensure the employees understand the details of the terms
with provision of relevant training programme. For details of
the training programme, please refer to Section B3 of this
ESG Report. The Group encourages employees to report any
suspected misconduct.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with any laws and regulations in Hong Kong related
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering including but
not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would
have a significant impact to the Group.

Conflict of Interest Management

In order to prevent employees from not taking corresponding
measures because of their personal interests, the Group has
formulated the “Declaration of Interest” which provides
guidelines and procedures to employees in exercising their utmost
good faith and honesty in all transactions involving their duties
and under no circumstances use their positions or knowledge
gained for their own personal benefits. Employees must ensure
that there is no conflict of interest between their personal
interests and their duties, obligations and responsibilities to the
Group. Those who have or have had a personal relationship with
related person where a conflict of interest is perceived should
provide written declarations at the earliest possible opportunity.
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

Committed to the highest possible standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group expects and encourages
our employees who have concerns about any suspected
misconduct or malpractice within the Group to come forward
and voice those concerns. Therefore, the Group adopts
a "Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and operations.
Complainants are assured of protection against unfair dismissal,
victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the
concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated. The Audit Committee is
responsible for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the
“Whistleblowing Policy” and make recommendations for further
improvement based on investigation results.

Community Investment
Corporate Social Responsibility

As part of the strategic development, the Group is committed
to supporting the public means of social participation and
contribution, and to nurturing the corporate culture and
practices of corporate citizen in our daily operation. The
Group aims to promote the stability of society and support
underprivileged rehabilitation to improve the quality of life.
The Group also focuses to inspire its employees towards social
welfare awareness. The Group embraces the human capital
into the social management strategies to sustain our corporate
social responsibility as a part of the strategic development of the
Group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Suite 609, 6/F

Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
HANDS FORM HOLDINGS LIMITED

EHRSERBRAE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hands Form
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 187, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

BRR2EE
EEERETESAMASRM I BEETE
AI((EBBFAERDETES - BFERTE
AT 2 EECRARE BB 56 M
BRRAEZEE] ST IEE—TEIM - R
BEERBEMASRMZEXS AN BT
(TR EFBLR BEEE  REFRE
SRIEEITEMBREEE - BFHE - FFM
BB BT ERERAEMNEEHABEETHNE
TROLERE o

B ETS R
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

RARBESAER

Revenue recognition from provision of construction
services

REHBZERB AR ERR

We identified the revenue recognition from the provision
of construction services as a key audit matter due to the
involvement of significant management estimation in the
progress and outcome of the construction projects.
EEHRHEEEREAEGREERSARETZTE R
HAREAERLERIEENARBTIRERERE MR
it o

As set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised contract revenue of
a construction contract according to the management'’s
estimation of the progress and outcome of the project.
Construction contract revenue is estimated by using the
percentage of completion method, which is calculated
based on the costs incurred on each construction contract
at the end of the reporting period divided by the estimated
total costs for the contract and then multiplied by the
estimated construction revenue expected to be earned.
BniFE M mEM 4L - EREREEREHIER
EERERNMGEF  BREESNNEGNRER - EES
WA T B D LA » EUAREHREEES
HEEORARRRIAS QO EETAERE - BRATREM
SHEERETE -

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has recognised revenue from
the provision of construction services amounted to
approximately HK$86,336,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023.

BINGFE MMM TS ARE  BE_T-_=F+=-A
=+—HIFEE  E5EERHEBERBERN WL
#386,336,0007% 7T °
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EASEET S IE ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEETHERITNMEEFRRENSHR

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from the
provision of construction services included:
EERRARHBEERBNBAERNEFEBEATS
15 :

o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls over
the processes that the management performed in
relation to the estimation of total contract costs and
the determination of the status of completion of the
service contracts;
THREBEEMITRANKAREEREE L TK
ARG T E PR TH MR A2 A R B 2 )

o Agreeing the contract values and values of variation
orders, where applicable, to relevant signed
contracts or the correspondence with customers, on
a sample basis;
NEARARER - #EHNBEREEEENEEM
BR)EBEERA NN ETFERBMETRZ
8

o Understanding from project managers about the
status of completion of selected contracts at the end
of reporting period;

MIARKE THREETANNBPSEREHIET
RS 5

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik
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Key Audit Matters (Continued) BT TS IE (8)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRETER BEEETHNENNMNEEFARENSR

Revenue recognition from provision of construction
services (Continued)

REZERB L WHEER (E)

o Evaluating the reasonableness of estimated total
contract costs to be incurred by checking against
the agreements, quotations, invoices or other
correspondences from time to time provided by
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved, on a
sample basis;

FRmMmEREEEs B8R  HERETRENT
& WE - BRERTKZEMBEA - SHEETES
ol EN: =

o Evaluating the accuracy of the construction costs
incurred during the year by agreeing to supplier
invoices or payment applications from sub-
contractors or other supporting documents, on a
sample basis; and
FRMBERHERERR D BERNNRBRIHE
fib 58 BA S - BT AR IR 2 A B0 B SR A AN ) HE T
MR

o Assessing the reliability of the management’s
estimation by comparing the actual costs of
completed construction contracts against their
budgets, on a sample basis.
FRMELBRE TN REESONERKAREER
RAHEEIRE LT HI A SEE -
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREETER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets

BEZRUWHERENEE ZRBERE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due
to the involvement of significant management judgements
in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL") of the
Group's trade receivables and contract assets.
EEREFSRBRIBERENEEZ METEHER &R
B RE ARETE BESENEZEFIREFEREGNE
ENEREEBER(HBEERE NS IREAEEEH
B o
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EASEET S IE ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEETHNENIMNEEFARENSR

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables and contract assets included:
EEFEHESRRFIERENEE ZRENENEFE
FEATEIE :

o Obtaining an understanding of the key controls on
how the management estimates the ECL allowance
for trade receivables and contract assets;
THREBEMANGEZERKRFERENEENT
HEEEBREEN RIS

o Assessing the reasonableness in determining i)
estimated loss rate applied for the trade receivables
and their related contract assets, and ii) forward-
looking information, with reference to financial
information of debtors (if available), default rates and
recovery rates published by a credit rating agency,
historical default rates and settlement records of
debtors, ageing analysis of trade receivables and
contract assets and current economic conditions;
DEERTARBBAGNEBAMBER(EA)
BHOXREKR FBHEANELENEREER
8% BHRUFIAR A NEENRRD T IARE A
BN - FHEEE)E S RYGEREEEE
HWBEMNGEBEEER  RiDATEUHERNNSIE N

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

HREETER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and
contract assets (Continued)

B RUHERENEE 2 BER G ()

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s net trade
receivables and contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$5,512,000 and HK$23,111,000, respectively. The
management of the Group estimates the amount of
lifetime ECL of trade receivables and their related contract
assets based on individual assessment, after considering
external and internal credit ratings of trade receivables and
their related contract assets, ageing, repayment history and/
or past due status and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
or effort.

RZZBE_=F+-_A=+—R0 E5ENEZERKE
RERNEEFHEDHAA5,512,000877L k23,111,000
BT - BEXEEEREEEZEREHRKFIAREBBAE LD
BENZHRHEEBER BEERESRKFIARE
HEEHNEENIINBRABEETR KRk - BREL
K/ 58 BRAR 0 DA I S 55 A R AR B B AN 558 0 BN AT
EMEAEEERENAMEMLEERE  (ELBEZTMH -
BEMEAERANG HAIAIEFEIEEA X FHIHEMA
MR -

The Group’s management engaged an independent
qualified professional valuer to assist them to determine the
ECL of the trade receivables and contract assets.
EXBEERECEEBYUAEREXGEMABMETE
BHRWFIARAENEENTAREERE -

As disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised an allowance for
lifetime ECL amounted to approximately HK$312,000 and
HK$52,946,000 of trade receivables and contract assets as
at 31 December 2023, respectively.

AT E IS MR T 28T HKEE - EEER T =%
TZA=T - ERRESERRFIERENEEN T I
HEEBERED R4 %2312,000% T % 52,946,000/
T o

EASEET S IE ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEETHNENNMNEEFARENSR

o Testing the integrity of information used by
management to estimate the ECL allowance of
individual debtors, including trade receivables and
contract assets ageing analysis as at 31 December
2023, on a sample basis, by comparing individual
items in the analysis with the relevant sales
agreements, sales invoices and other supporting
documents;
FRNHBE_T_=F+_A=+—HNEFE
WkIA J & #) & B Bl o A o B0 (E 51| 78 B B2 AR R 8H
Btk - HEEZENHMBRAXXM - LARETT A
AEREN G EREEARBEEBRREBHNE
FE TR - BFEEEIT

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent qualified professional
valuer and obtaining an understanding of their
scope of work and terms of engagement; and
HEEEREXLEMNT & eI RFHIL
W TRRRENTIESERERGER : &

o Challenging the valuation technique and
reasonableness of the significant inputs used by the
management and the valuer in the valuations based
on information obtained from the independent
sources.

BRIBEBIRREFHNER - HERERAERME
THERARANBRERTREZRABENSE
MiRE B -
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Other matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March 2023.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

EERERABAEBRGEH
BHRRBAARNEEE)
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats
or safeguards applied.

BBMRER GRS M BERREA
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit BB MM BRGRS M EHRRA
of the Consolidated Financial Statements AENEEE)

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, REESGABEABBBNEEY  EEATEY

we determine those matters that were of most significance in the  BRAHEGANERASATSENEH
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period MEKEREZSEE - EERNEE 2 ZHEN R
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters SR HBAZEEE  BRIEEAE SR HIZE A
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public HEABEEE  FEBEFRNBERT 54
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, EFEHAEEZSMREFIEEEETEREKNE
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report ~ ER R SBBEELAN AR D  BEI S
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably — ZEULZHER TEREPIEHZET -

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent A ZERIFRENEFBEEEAHBEK -
auditor’s report is Kwok, Wilson Chi Shing.

Wilson & Partners CPA Limited EREMEERERAR
Certified Public Accountants HEZE AN

Kwok, Wilson Chi Shing EEK

Practising Certificate Number: P01952 HEFEHI 0 P01952
Hong Kong B

26 March 2024 ZEZME=A=+"H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
SN i= H b 2 R &= R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiZ - T = =F + - A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —=ET-=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHEIT

Revenue W e 5 86,702 122,517
Cost of services BR 75 A AR (108,191) (151,145)
Gross loss E18 (21,489) (28,628)
Other income H A 6 218 144
Other gains and losses Hip gz & E518 7 3,420 (1,767)
Impairment losses under expected credit loss model, 88z EEIBE N THY

net of reversal BEEE (R ER) 8 (24,329) (17,916)
Administrative expenses TR (9,102) (7,860)
Finance costs B & A 9 (336) (283)
Loss before tax BRI AT ES 18 10 (51,618) (56,310)
Income tax credit FTiSfiif e 11 = 107
Loss and total comprehensive FREBER

expense for the year 2HEMAZEEE (51,618) (56,203)

(Restated)
(&E75)

Loss per share BREE 14

- Basic (HK cents) - EARCEM) (16.54) (19.49)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

W

4= A B 75

% R L 3R

As at 31 December 2023 R =—ZE —=F+—-_HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —=ET-=
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHEIT
Non-current Assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment S E L] 15 4,935 9,364
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss R A FEFF AEZEA
TREE 16 2,702 2,596
7,637 11,960
Current Assets REEE
Trade receivables E 5 EWFRIE 17 5,512 6,472
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments B & YRR
- e MR RIE 18 16,897 26,732
Contract assets BHEE 19 23,111 64,766
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 20 18,600 14,006
64,120 111,976
Total Assets WEE 71,757 123,936
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M N RIE 21 8,967 9,446
Contract liabilities BHEE 19 = 4
Bank borrowings RITIE X 22 9,622 9,700
18,589 19,150
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 45,531 92,826
Net Assets EEFE 53,168 104,786

TEF LA AR AT o 2023 £
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A MBI R

As at 31 December 2023 R —ZE =+ _F=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —=ET-=

NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET

Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital &% 7R 24 31,200 31,200
Reserves & 21,968 73,586
Total Equity mER 53,168 104,786

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 187 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26
March 2024 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam
REIEELE
Director

55

HNFEBBEIB7TEMGEMBHEAN T —
F=ZA=-+RH Z‘i§$/\ﬁt/&&?ﬂ%¥§ﬁﬁ Riz
HATEEKREZTSRE

Mr. Ma Kan Sun
BERRAKE

Director

55
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FEREmEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 EiZE — T =F+ - A=+—HILFE

Retained
profits
Share Share Other (accumulated
capital premium reserve losses) Total
(Note a) (Note b)
REER
IS R (E Rt  (RHEH @zt

(Mtita) (MEb)
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET

At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—Hf—H 26,000 83,610 600 35,410 145,620
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRABBEREERXAHE

for the year - - - (56,203) (56,203)
Issue of shares upon placing (Note 24) RRLER BT (M524) 5,200 10,400 = = 15,600
Transaction costs attributable to issue of BIRERDEER KA

shares upon placing - (231) - - (231)
At 31 December 2022 AR ZF+ZA=1—H 31,200 93,779 600 (20,793) 104,786
Loss and total comprehensive expense EABERZERXBE

for the year - - - (51,618) (51,618)
At 31 December 2023 RIBE-=(+-A=1+-H 31,200 93,779 600 (72,411) 53,168
Notes: e
a. Share premium represents the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value a. &7 Y4 (8 5 PR UCER BV PR 1S 3RIR - FNBRBETTARID PRE &

of the shares of the Company issued at a premium, less expenses incurred in connection MR 1% - BRREEEITHARARNEENZHE

with the issue of the shares

b. Other reserve represents the difference between the cost of acquisition pursuant to the b. HiEHmERBEEERBIEARAR(EE) RS
acquisition of Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”) and Ma Yau Engineering Limited RIRAERAR(BR)HUWFEK AL EE R
(“Ma Yau”) and the total value of share capital of the entity acquired. MRAEENZHE -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mealRTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiZ - T = =F + - A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E_—
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FEIL
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KeEEE
Loss before tax PR AT ES 1B (51,618) (56,310)
Adjustments for: REREE
— Depreciation of property, plant and - - BERREBITE
equipment 2,650 2,237
= Gain on fair value changes of financial - BRATEGFABRNEREED
assets at fair value through profit or loss N EZB WS (106) (114)
- (Gain) loss on disposals of property, - HEWE  BEKZKEHWE)
plant and equipment 518 (3,314) 1,881
- Impairment losses under expected credit loss — FAHAE EEEE N T AR EE B
model, net of reversal (F0BREEED) 24,329 17,916
~ Interest income - FEWA (112) (35)
- Finance costs - BhE AR 336 283
Operating cash flows before movements LEECHHILERERE
in working capital (27,835) (34,142)
Decrease in trade receivables 2 5 R BGRIER 648 2,402
Decrease in other receivables, E M EWRRIA ~ ime RIENFRIER
deposits and prepayments 9,835 1,098
Decrease in contract assets BHBERD 17,638 44,888
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 I E A &S FRIE R (479) (19,566)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHERERD (4) (227)
Cash used in operations KEARE (197) (5,547)
Income tax refund REFTEH - 126
Interest paid EFLE - (14)
Net cash used in operating activities RETHFARESTH (197) (5,435)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWHE - BERJERFTSHIE
plant and equipment 5,093 4,073
Interest received 2R & 112 35
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposit BT IBRITFRK = 5,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYX BB A&E - (7,751)
Net cash from investing activities RETHMBREFH 5,205 1,357
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2023 2022
—=E_-= —EF_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Interest paid BEAFIE (336) (269)
Repayments of bank borrowings EERITER (78) (206)
Repayments of bank overdrafts BRRITEX - (8,373)
Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares — ZE7TRXD FE(E 32 5 A A - (231)
Proceeds from issue of shares BT B FTIS R IE = 15,600
New bank borrowings raised MERRITER - 2,000
Net cash (used in) from financing activities BEEE (FTA) SRS FHE (414) 8,521
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRBRESEEYIEMFEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,594 4,443
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FUOReEREAESEEY -
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR, ERITE e
represented by bank balances 14,006 9,563
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERRERELEEY -
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, BiR1TERR
represented by bank balances 18,600 14,006

EFT LR AR @ 2023 FiR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 BiZ - T = =F + - A=+—HILFE

General Information

Hands Form Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and is registered
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands on 30 January 2019. The shares of the
Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 August
2019. Its immediate and ultimate holding company is Wonderful
Renown Limited (“Wonderful Renown"), a private limited
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The
controlling shareholders of the Company are Mr. Cheung Kwok
Fai Adam (“Mr. Adam Cheung”), Ms. Cheung Lai Chun (“Ms.
LC Cheung”) and Wonderful Renown.

The address of the registered office of the Company is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands and the address of the principal place
of business is Room 9, 2/F Hang Bong Commercial Centre, 28
Shanghai Street, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as to the “Group”)
is principally engaged in the provision of construction services
including wet trades works (including plastering on floors, walls
and ceilings, tile laying on internal and external walls and floors,
brick laying and marble works) and other wet trades related
ancillary works (“Construction Services”) and provision of
construction information technology services (“Construction IT
Services”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“"HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ERHTRKEIIEEH

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting BREER(BBHKR
Standards (“"HKFRSs"”) and Changes in HEA ) REMESFTBERS
Other Accounting Policies 1)
New and amendments to HKFRSs that are AN E @ H & B E] &
mandatorily effective for the current year AT B B KR E %8|
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new RAEE  AEBEHEREANUTHE
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute AErmAg((EEETMAg)EM
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, W E] RIS T BB G E LR - %
which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period ELEARAEE _T_=F—H—HHA
beginning on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the YR E BRI R B AR - AR BAR & B
consolidated financial statements: e e
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts ERUBREENE R RRAY
October 2020 and February (BE-Z-ZETAR
2022 Amendments to kS S
HKFRS 17) BANBREERS
175 2318
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates EAGHEANESR iRt R
EHES
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and EREHERE12% 2 BE-RHELEMEER
Liabilities arising from a Single EHE AERBNELHE
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar Two BBGRAE 2% BRBHINE - =y
model Rules EHE EER
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies BEEHENEIRR SHRRRE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BAMEREENER
BREIR 2 BEA
Except as described below, the application of the new and BRTXFTatE SN - NEREAFE] RE
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material BRI BB BHREEREAREBRNARE
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for ERBEFERBMBARRRKER, 3%
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in ZREFA VMR ERESEIE L &
these consolidated financial statements. BERTE -

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

96

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(Continued)

Impacts on application of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 Amendments)
Insurance Contracts

The Group has applied the new standard and the relevant
amendments for the first time in the current year.

HKFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts
and supersedes HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.

HKFRS 17 defines an insurance contract as a contract under
which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the
policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured
event) adversely affects the policyholder.

In October 2020, the HKICPA issued Amendments to HKFRS 17
to address concerns and implementation challenges that were
identified after HKFRS 17 was published. The amendments defer
the date of initial application of HKFRS 17 (incorporating the
amendments) to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023. At the same time, the HKICPA issued Amendments
to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from HKFRS
9 that extends the fixed expiry date of the temporary exemption
from applying HKFRS 9 in HKFRS 4 to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e B R R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ERHTRKEIIEEH

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting BHEEA(BBHBR
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and Changes in HEA ) REMEFTBURE
Other Accounting Policies (Continued) (&)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are AN E R ) A BV E] &
mandatorily effective for the current year KASE] BB %R & ZE A
(Continued) (#8)

Impacts on application of HKFRS 17 (including the FEREBIMBMERERE 1795 (B
October 2020 and February 2022 Amendments) “ECEFHARZEIZFZAZ
Insurance Contracts (Continued) BRI REEE N 2 & (8)

In February 2022, the HKICPA issued Amendment to HKFRS RZEZZFZH BEESHILERE
17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative o T BB BRELRIFE TR ZEFTAR
Information to address implementation challenges that were BB R EERE 175 R E B #H
identified after HKFRS 17 was published. The amendment ERAIEIR B NIER — LLEREHR
addresses challenges in the presentation of comparative NS R BB GG LR E17REM
information. BEBPPIBINIE o ZIEFTRAER

THEREMZI T HmAPE

Certain contracts entered into by the Group, e.g. assurance type AEBFIUMETEABINREFE
warranty to customers, meet the definition of insurance contracts HRFRRE)FE B BN BREER
under HKFRS 17. However, these contracts are specifically scoped F17TRE MRS ERE ° A © %
out from HKFRS 17 and the Group continues to account for ZEENRARIBRE R KRS EL
these contracts under relevant accounting standards. Therefore, F17R &  AEBEEREBEAS
the application of HKFRS 17 in the current year had no material FFERIEZES AR - Bt - RASF
impact on the consolidated financial statements. ERAEEVBEHREENENTREERE

MBHRRALBEEAZE -

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 FEREEBETEAESR 2B AE
Definition of Accounting Estimates st 2 ERNTE

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the AEBERAFEERERZEZEE]
current year. The amendments define accounting estimates as Ko ZEBITATEGEARIFE
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to SAETHAEAE MBHRERCEY S
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require Bl o @ BERURERELE P RAED
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that BAEAAE B mk 2B B #EITRE ©
involves measurement uncertainty. In such a case, an entity REEERT  —HEEERE S
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out i BEEN BRI CERE &
by the accounting policy. The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify BT ERERR 2B RNBEE
the distinction between changes in accounting estimates, and TEERSTHREEUAREREEZ
changes in accounting policies and the correction of errors. &

The application of the amendments in the current year had no REBRAFEERBZFETAEES
material impact on the consolidated financial statements. M RRIBEALE -

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information
relating to material transactions, other events or conditions
is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
— Long Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong

As disclosed in Note 25, the Group has several subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to
employees under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the
Group makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee who
administers the assets held in a trust solely for the retirement
benefits of each individual employee. Offsetting of LSP against an
employee’s accrued retirement benefits derived from employers’
MPF contributions was allowed under the Employment Ordinance
(Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset
severance payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will
officially take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date").
In addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month's
salary immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of
the date of termination of employment) is used to calculate the
portion of LSP in respect of the employment period before the
Transition Date.

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
— Long Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism in
Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so
as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about
the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Group considered the accrued benefits arising from employer
MPF contributions that have been vested with the employee
and which could be used to offset the employee’s LSP benefits
as a deemed contribution by the employee towards the LSP.
Historically, the Group has been applying the practical expedient
in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 to account for the deemed
employee contributions as a reduction of the service cost in the
period in which the related service is rendered.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ERHTRKEIIEEH

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting B EER ([ FBHM KR
Standards (“"HKFRSs"”) and Changes in HEA ) REMESFTBERS
Other Accounting Policies (Continued) E(48)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are PAZN 5 R ) A BV F ET I
mandatorily effective for the current year AT B B KRS %8|
(Continued) (48

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of HEAEASTHMASEREEUER
the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of wlEAEE(EEES ) - RER®ES
the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") ([REFIRTE € 1) INSHME B IV B 5T £
— Long Service Payment (“LSP") offsetting mechanism in Bl MEBRNEFTBER 2 (&)
Hong Kong (Continued)

Based on the HKICPA’s guidance, as a result of the Abolition, BREREESHMASMNIES - ARE
these contributions are no longer considered “linked solely to the B ZERRTBHERRMEREER
employee’s service in that period” since the mandatory employer ZHEREESE] - AAERERR
MPF contributions after the Transition Date can still be used to & 18 £ M58 sl R B & R0 ] AR K
offset the pre-transition LSP obligation. Therefore, it would not HBENNRARBEEME - Bt - #
be appropriate to view the contributions as “independent of HEBRRBIRRBFERILTEE -
the number of years of service” and the practical expedient in BEBSTERFE195FIB3L)ENE
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 is no longer applicable. Instead, BREE T THEER - Bk - ZF8E
these deemed contributions should be attributed to periods of HREREEATAGHERFE19RE
service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit applying 9B@EM AR EBABRNT RN
paragraph 93(a) of HKAS 19. T ARRTS BAfE o

The change in accounting policy in the current year had no RAFEGFTEREB YGRS MEREK
material impact on the consolidated financial statements. WRERNTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at
least twelve months from reporting date for classification of
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do
not affect its classification as current or non-current only
if the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months.

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs") and Changes in
Other Accounting Policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with which
an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the
reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of
a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.
Covenants which are required to comply with only after the
reporting period do not affect whether that right exists at the
end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period.

2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ERHTRKEIIEEH

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting B EER ([ FBHM KR
Standards (“"HKFRSs"”) and Changes in HEA ) REMESFTBERS
Other Accounting Policies (Continued) (&)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet EEMEEREMVIETE
effective (Continued) BRI R SR ()
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities EASTTENE IR BT REED
as Current or Non-current and related amendments *Ei’f_'ru@ﬂ_i#/ﬁ?)?&ﬁEﬁ'ﬁ?%ﬁ&%
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 S BRI (B EF)( 22 =FF
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current T&ETﬁJ)&E/ﬁé* ZERIZE 158 ZT'K
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) S AR ENIERBAEE( =
(Continued) —FEETAR]) (48)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying R _FEIATNEER =4
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on BRI AR AR B MBS — T —OF —
or after 1 January 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with HA—H YZ?%%??AZEfiﬁiHHFﬁ o =
the 2020 Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods T _FBIRE_ZT_TFEITAR
beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application —E-mMFE—-A— EHZZ&F#EHIAZJ’CEV
permitted. If an entity applies the 2020 Amendments for an WEHRER  YAFRFER - WE
earlier period after the issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity RERG S _FEIAENHTHE
should also apply the 2022 Amendments for that period. FH_T TEEIAR - ZEBTEEZ

HARSER — & — — F{BE] AN o

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December REBEAEER=-F __¢‘|’ RA=+—

2023, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will HRREEER BRAZS-_TFK=

not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities. T _FBIABTIeERAEBEE
BHD *E S
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. HREMBHRRNEREE
- - L 2 Vo raxip? M TA
Financial Statements and Material REASTBREHR
Accounting Policy Information
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated 3.1 e BHRERNEHE
financial statements #E
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared REMBHRREBRBEE B LETAD
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For NERMOEBYEREERR
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial o RRBZEEVBEWMEME
statements, information is considered material if such WMEBBAERENKBEEEE
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions ERAEELREK - AIREERE
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated BREAX o LI GFEPBHERE
financial statements include applicable disclosures required BREEABERSMERARE
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 7 LR REB R RHURBIAER
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong ERERBEEIE -
Kong Companies Ordinance.
3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 BEREFHEER
Basis of consolidation mMEERE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate AR EREBIERD T AL
the financial statements of the Company and entities Nal REME A A Bl E g
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is BB HRRK - KRAFRATER
achieved when the Company: FESIRHIAE -
. has power over the investee; . RIS IR E HITERES
o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from o SRRzl O iill
its involvement with the investee; and ESs AREESAE M
R
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. o BRe hiTEEENTER
EE
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an HEEREREXP X =18
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are PR EE R — A ZIENE
changes to one or more of the three elements of control B REEesHE R AL
listed above. WIRETT -
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group REBEEEWE QT IE GRS
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the B EH B A Rl4EE AR - A
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income £ E A E LT B A 7)1 R
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of MIEARR - BEME » FRATIK
during the year are included in the consolidated statement B HERNBRATMKRAREY
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from TAZR &= B EE S 12 5 ¥ H HiEt A 43
the date the Group gains control until the date when the cEGNEMTEKGZR  EZE
Group ceases to control the subsidiary. KREBTHBIZEHEZME AR HE
y=Y1us
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material ERETTEERER ()
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 ERSHBERER (8)
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) mEEE (@)
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial R ERE - SHHE QR
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting WMRELFARE  UEESFTBUR
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. HEAEENSTHR - -
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, FREAEEKERRIZEAXZH
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions FIEEBARNEEHAE  #xm
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on WA AEZRBREREGREE
consolidation. AR 2T -

Revenue from contracts with customers EPEHKE

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating to AEEEEFSOEENETBERER

contracts with customers is provided in Notes 5 and 19. F2HMFESK19 -
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T B ISR ER M T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T e B R R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material BERETTEERER ()
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Borrowing costs (EEANZRN

AW RRREECEREE(RT
ZRKRERET AT RERERRIEERN
BE)ERELENBRRARTIGAZE
BEMKAR  EEEEKEE LA AES
ERESHHE -

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

A B A B R AN N E IR R B et

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred. HER o
Government grants BT e B

AREBEES SRR E R E TR E)
P B 7 B 1R 4 B35 mT MR BRI # B AT
TEERBUTFHEE)

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

BT 68 B 4R Z e BB 0 AN 65 B R 4 B
BRAEENHENA AR WHIMERR
W ﬁ@%}u °

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate.

EREELERAXIBEBRNBEISTE
EARRADREE A M E R A AR B
FATE SRR 0 B RO FE Y BRI A AR B BT
e EAREERIANERN B

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable. R o
Employee benefits EERA
R KA A R A

Retirement benefit costs
Mot A ((RER D EIEL &Y
NERE B ERERE A M A EESH
TR ERRAX -

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

e P RRAVRBLE R

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.

110

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans including the LSP
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of
each annual reporting period. In determining the present value of
the Group’s defined benefit obligations and the related current
service cost and, where applicable, past service cost, the Group
attributes benefit to periods of service under the plan’s benefit
formula. However, if an employee’s service in later years will
lead to a materially higher level of benefit than earlier years, the
Group attributes the benefit on a straight-line basis from:

(@)  the date when service by the employee first leads to
benefits under the plan (whether or not the benefits are
conditional on further service) until;

(b)  the date when further service by the employee will lead
to no material amount of further benefits under the plan,
other than from further salary increases.

Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect
of the changes to the asset ceiling (if applicable) and the return
on plan assets (excluding interest), is reflected immediately in
the consolidated statement of financial position with a charge
or credit recognised in other comprehensive income in the
period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other
comprehensive income is reflected immediately in retained
earnings and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—_ZT - =F+_—_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMKBRRIVFEHEE
Financial Statements and Material BERETTEERER ()
Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued) ﬁé-\:faﬁ (%8)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued) BIRBRIKAS (8)

Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period BERRTEECAR G ENE AT She R AR R
of a plan amendment or curtailment and a gain or loss on BaRER  mMAEEEENREIIBAR
settlement is recognised when settlement occurs. When HEEZERER o EHETEEERBEAR
determining past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, SEEEEN KRS IBRR - BBEMS
an entity shall remeasure the net defined benefit liability or REtEIEENERM A FEMERMNEERE
asset using the current fair value of plan assets and current BREFFERECERNABEHNEENF
actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under the ﬁE LA&@&?&UT&T HI1E A A R 5T &
plan and the plan assets before and after the plan amendment, 1&5] - R EERENFTEIEE - M
curtailment or settlement, without considering the effect of asset T%J‘Eéﬁtﬁﬁﬁ'}%% (BNAETEI 2 &
ceiling (i.e. the present value of any economic benefits available R R SR ARG B R T R S
in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future ZEBEN@2IRE) °

contributions to the plan).

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the MEFEDRRAERNEAENEEFE
beginning of the period to the net defined benefit liability ERBVFRESE - A - WAKE
or asset. However, if the Group remeasures the net defined TEETENEET RSB ZRIEHEE
benefit liability or asset before plan amendment, curtailment or REBMWEBAENEEFR  AIXNEEK
settlement, the Group determines net interest for the remainder RS TIREMNEF AT ENEET
of the annual reporting period after the plan amendment, RS EE RN EEARARER
curtailment or settlement using the benefits offered under the TEREATRNBENEEFENT
plan and the plan assets after the plan amendment, curtailment WMEETETENER]  BRKEREERFE
or settlement and the discount rate used to remeasure such net HE TSR EAR AR FE RS - W E R Z
defined benefit liability or asset, taking into account any changes BRI A B R R R AN E R AT
in the net defined benefit liability or asset during the period BN EENEEFRNETMESY -

resulting from contributions or benefit payments.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows: RERMNGTEIKAD AT

. service cost (including current service cost, past service . REKA(BEEHRBEKA
cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and BERIEKAA R fam M EE R
settlements); W & xK)

. net interest expense or income; and . FEBRAXSHWATE : &

o remeasurement. . EETE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the actual deficit
or surplus in the Group's defined benefit plans. Any surplus
resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of
any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the
plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third parties
reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions to the
plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be
contributions from employees or third parties, the accounting
depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as
follows:

o If the contributions are not linked to services (for example
contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising from
losses on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are
reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit
liability or asset.

° If contributions are linked to services, they reduce service
costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent
on the number of years of service, the Group reduces
service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of
service using the attribution method required by HKAS 19
paragraph 70 for the gross benefits. For the amount of
contribution that is independent of the number of years
of service, the Group reduces service cost in the period in
which the related service is rendered.

EXRETBERER (8)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material BERETTEERER ()
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued) BEEEAR (&)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued) RABEREA (8)

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF ARORBEEEMES - AEEFER
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee BENEFRABEHRIARARET LS
contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS RN 19.93(a) 61 = R 7EE B ¥ &
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount BRHARB BN OMR - IR ER
of future benefit is determined after deducting the negative 2 A RRBHNEBIRNBRAEE
service cost arising from the accrued benefits derived from BB HERE HENME 8 MR EERE
the Group’s MPF contributions that have been vested with & B eV KPR EE A 1) R AT 48 F i 22 A Y
employees, which are deemed to be contributions from the BIRIEEARETE °

relevant employees.

Short—term employee benefits EHEERER

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted %R E R AR B IR RS IZ TR HR
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when e AR IR SRR - FTBREH
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee BERTOERARAX BRIESEFESR
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS M mE LR EX R T REAFTAE
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an BB o

asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such BEZFARMMMIERF)RNHRE
as wages and salaries) after deduction of any amount already NegrERRAE -

paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

I

e P RRARBLEER

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.

114

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—_ZT - =F+_—_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the
Group considers whether it is probable that the relevant tax
authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be use by individual group entities in their income
tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of each
uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or
the expected value.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purpose. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,
plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are
recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is
considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which
the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received
from the contract. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect
the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower
of the net cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties
arising from failure to fulfil it.

When assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making,
the Group includes costs that relate directly to the contract,
consisting of both the incremental costs (to specify, e.g. direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs (to specify,
e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling that contract)
that relate directly to fulfilling contracts.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities (Continued)

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material BEARSFTBERER (8)
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMTA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) SREE(E)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEN Y EREET= (@)

assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, FEHMERMEERL BB TEFAR

except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the ma e BEVGEERREEER -

Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes MR EWIEFHEEE - MIEHRE

in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive FEBEBMBREENEIRELSH

income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor FTERARERE R ERNIARE -

contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business AEEU A HEHEEREMSE

combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies. HW=2Y R RENERATES

& o
A financial asset is held for trading if: WMERTIER  cRHEEBREER
=i

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling . HIrEREHREE 2 B MK
in the near term; or B3k

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified . RUAERRFEN AN EE —fE
financial instruments that the Group manages together Bwe#nemI EEEe —&o
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit- ki BB ERGHENEKR
taking; or %

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a . HAWIFEERBRE P ITAN
hedging instrument. PTHETH -

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset [ R LI Dl N =D R =1

that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI BI 7S 62 B AT 1S R R aH 3D 5 T8 R AR B SH K

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly AR AFEFAEMEZAREHS

reduces an accounting mismatch. BERBRATEF ABRTE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FEMEBRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material BERETTEERER ()
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) eI E(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THREEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREENS EREETE(E)

assets (Continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income ()  HIEAERRFEWA
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest HERIRBHEKATENERE
method for financial assets measured subsequently EREERATEFAELMZE
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables WaEmEB TR KB
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is 5 MBI AR ERN AR
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the R MEWATEBEEMEE
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for FRERERERERNEAE - #
financial assets that have subsequently become credit- HERBREERENSREER
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have ANR T - EZREREER
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income BENEREEMS @ € TEKRSE
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to HIREMERABZ AN EREE
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next HEE S N R BRI R R o
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired WEERESIANEERR
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is BRNE  LBEREETHY
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised REERE AR SKRALEERE
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying BEETHLBREERER BB
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the HERMEERN B WS YR
reporting period following the determination that the M emEEREBERER

asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL (i) BRAFHEGIAEBZHZHEE
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being PR RBIHEK AR A T ER
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as AEMEEREIIEEREATF
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL. Bt AR EKRFTEHER

MWemEEDNRATEFABR
FTE o
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the BRAFEGFABRNESREER
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains RERERARNATETE M
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or (ERCIFA ¥T§H&ﬁ¢l§ﬁ?§ﬁ’\iﬁ & A
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or BR - NERERNRKEE
interest earned on the financial asset. FHEITOECREEMBRDMOE
AR B3 A S o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—_ZT - =F+_—_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits and bank balances)
and contract assets which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these assets is assessed
individually for debtors based on internal credit rating, the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

e P RRAVRBLE R
EXRETBERER (8)

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.
Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITAGE)
Financial assets (Continued) SREE(E)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument'’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

TRHEERREET BB REERIESRA
YRR E ARV E A IRERVRE (48)

(i)

1= B /7 B AR & 15 0

ERHE 2R T A B VIR RERIA R
SERBRETBREE MG - AE
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iatER BB EENNRR -
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% AN A% ) B B] A5 HO AT RE 14
Bt o
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. ERITEINBANB)HA
BEEFRLBENER X
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. ShER T 515 B R R R IR R
ER mEBANEE
BENERENIRHER
RiE EF

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, . X1 MBSUEERR T
financial or economic conditions that are expected IR 3IR A =X T8 B A R F &
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s It EHARKEREBAR
ability to meet its debt obligations; TEBRBEHEIRKRT

B

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in . BEHEANKEXEEERE
the operating results of the debtor; HHRSEREHRRER
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i)
it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as
per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. MEMBHRRNVEREER
Financial Statements and Material BERSTBRER ()
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) TR A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) TREE (&)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to %Eﬁﬁ%&m}J%E\;‘%Eﬂ%i&%ﬁﬂlj’?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) YRR E AR TR BRI E (48)
(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EFEREZHMEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more finl 35 4 $ £ B & E B A ET R IKER
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated TREANNTEN—ANZIA
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. = AlZeREELRERER
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes B eREELREERENS
observable data about the following events: BERRAM T IEHH AR
I
(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the @  BITARBRAHBREX
borrower; B 7SR 2
(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due by EBEREH  WEADZEH
event; ESLS
() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (0 EBIAHNERAERBEBE
contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s FAMBRENLESXES
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower HRARMBERAREER
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not ATEBEZ B IFE
otherwise consider; or %
(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will d) BERABUREHKES#ET
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation. EMmBriEEA -
(iv)  Write-off policy (iv) MHER
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is WEEHBTRIRXZHFHBRE
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe MR E LA BERAIKEFE
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of (WX SGHFHE#ETEERD
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been EABERF) S (MRE SR
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy IR BRFEEEE —FARE
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the BHEERE) AEBEGMES
amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs BMEE - BEASEREREFIL
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject ERAEZZQER) - BMEHE
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery TREEARNIIEEZDH
procedures, taking into account legal advice where IR - MSHIBARR ILEREM -
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. EREZWE KRB RIE R E

27
R

Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments;

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

e P RRAVRBLEER

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3.

132

Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—_ZT - =F+_—_A=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
(Continued)

Revenue recognition from provision of
Construction Services

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of Construction
Services according to the management’s estimation of the total
outcome of the project as well as the progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation measured based on
input method. The recognition of contract revenue therefore
relies on the management'’s estimation of the progress and
outcome of the project, which involves the exercise of significant
management estimation, particularly in estimating the budgeted
contract costs, which are prepared by the management
of the Group on the basis of agreements, quotations or
other correspondences from time to time provided by the
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the experience
of the management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, the management of the Group conducts periodic
reviews of the budgets of service contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts incurred. Construction
revenue and contract assets are estimated by using the
percentage of completion method, which is calculated based
on the costs incurred on each construction contract at the end
of the respective accounting period divided by the estimated
total costs for the contract and then multiplied by the estimated
construction revenue expected to be earned. Notwithstanding
that management reviews and revises the estimates of both
contract revenue and costs for the Construction Services as the
contract progresses, the actual outcome of the contract in terms
of its total revenue and costs may be higher or lower than the
estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit recognised.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are assessed for ECL
individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The

information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in Note 28.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

5.

Revenue and Segment Information 5.

(a) Revenue

(i)

(i)

2 2 73 &R &

(@) Wz

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () EPFPeHWmDE
with customers
2023 2022
—EC-=E —F-=
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Type of service i &% Fid)
Construction Services FEERTE 86,336 121,720
Construction IT Services EEEMEHT AR 366 797
86,702 122,517
Timing of revenue recognition T2 UL &5 {985
Over time B e P 86,702 122,517
Type of customer BEFER
Private sector FLEFRRIEER
- Construction Services - RER 7,649 45,388
- Construction IT Services - BEEMBHIARES 366 797
Public sector NEFRRIEEB
- Construction Services - RER 78,687 76,332
86,702 122,517
Performance obligations for contracts with (i) BEFEAMNENERR

customers and revenue recognition policies

The Group derives its revenue from provision of wet
trades works and other wet trades related ancillary
works and provision of construction information
technology services are recognised over time. All
the Group’s services are rendered directly with the
customers. Contracts with the Group’s customers
are agreed in fixed-price with terms from 1 month
to 9 months (2022: 1 month to 26 months).

Wy 5 R R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

(if)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies
(Continued)

Revenue from provision of wet trades works

The Group provides wet trades works (including
plastering on floors, walls and ceilings, tile laying on
internal and external walls and floors, brick laying
and marble works) and other wet trades related
ancillary works under contracts with customers.
Such contracts are entered into before the services
begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group
is contractually required to perform the services
at the customers’ specified sites that the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue
from provision of such services is therefore
recognised over time using input method, i.e.
based on the actual costs incurred by the Group
to date compared with the total budgeted cost
for the project to estimate the revenue recognised
during the period. The directors of the Company
consider that input method would faithfully depict
the Group’s performance towards complete
satisfaction of these performance obligations under
HKFRS 15.

Revenue from provision of construction
information technology services

Revenue from provision of construction information
technology services are recognised over time as the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs. The Group bills a fixed
amount for each month of service provided. The
Group elected to apply the practical expedient by
recognising revenue in the amount to which the
Group has right to invoice.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

5.

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

(a)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising
revenue are as follows:

RETEATR
- —% 7

Provision of wet trades works
— Within one year

5.

i 28

(a)

7 EBE R ()

LI& (/n,g\)
(i) P?HEZFENGHRTRE

HNEETHHRE
PEREEHRTEHET (R
SERK S EB 1D TEAK) B A R
18 % 78 B i s Uk 2 Y B ]
A
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
64,810 47,078

The Group has applied the practical expedient
under HKFRS 15 to its contracts for the provision
of construction information technology services
such that the above information does not include
information about revenue that the Group will
be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts
for the provision of construction information
technology services that had an original expected
duration of one year or less.

(b) Segment reporting

Information is reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker
("“CODM") of the Group, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of services provided.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS
8, Operating Segments, are (i) Construction Services; and
(ii) Construction IT services.

(b)

AEEDHERHRZESR
AR RB O SO EAE

B S TR #ERISE 155718
THEBEETRZE AR

ERANT BEEBAE
7 B 1T R T R A
— R TR R AN
RS HRTS #0 8 4078 T I
B4 B ERS R 1 U
HEER -

D ERER
AARNITES (BAEEEE
BIEBEARE((EEEEREE])
E2WMER - UETTEROPEE R
S RATIREREAER T H D

’%E%i o AEERBEEAYS
FERMLE DA 2
%B?’%(u)}% EMRTS - R (ii) s
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information

(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue

and results by reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

5. WEKkoBER(E

G
Sy
Dk
o= |
+-
>3dd
Iff

=t—RALFE

Construction Construction

Services IT Services Consolidated
EEEA
EERK MER% wE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue paRidl &y 86,336 366 86,702
Segment loss DEEE (52,146) (10) (52,156)
Unallocated other income Ko EAMUA 218
Unallocated other gains and AR Be E A Y as
losses K& 3,420

Unallocated corporate expenses KA B AFFHX (2,764)
Finance costs BhE AL A (336)
Loss before tax BT E B (51,618)

TEFT LR AR AT o 2023 F3f
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

5.

2% K 2 B E ) (&)

+—HIEFE

Construction  Construction
Services IT Services  Consolidated

BEAM
BERKG BHE PR 7% o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT FEIT
Segment revenue 7 BRI 2R 121,720 797 122,517
Segment (loss) profit B (ER) & T (52,721) 760 (51,961)
Unallocated other income RABLEMUA 144

Unallocated other gains and Ko B E s

losses N Eta (1,767)
Unallocated corporate expenses A&7 Bt A &f X (2,443)
Finance costs BE R AR (283)
Loss before tax B RTEE (56,310)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 i EZ —Z —

Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

There are no inter-segment sales for both years. All
of the segment revenue reported above are from
external customers.

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in Note 3. Segment results represents the
profit (loss) from each segment without allocation
of unallocated other income, unallocated other
gains and losses, unallocated corporate expenses
and finance costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The CODM makes decisions according to operating
results of each segment. No analysis of segment
assets and liabilities is presented as the CODM
does not regularly review such information for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and
segment results are presented.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information 5. WaEkoHER(E)
(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting (Continued) (b) DEpERE (HB)
(iii) Other segment information (iii)y HibpIBER
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BEZ-_Z-_=%+=-AH
=t+—HLEE
Construction ~ Construction
Services IT Services Unallocated  Consolidated
BEEH
RERB R BRH OB )
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FAET FET
Depreciation of property, nE - BER
plant and equipment REFE 2,641 = 9 2,650
Gain on disposals of HEME  BE K
property, plant and RENKE
equipment - - (3,314) (3,314)
Impairment losses on trade ~ RIBREEME 5
receivables recognised in FEYGRIBRE
profit or loss BB 312 - - 312
Impairment losses on contract R IERHERM A4
assets recognised in profitor ~ AEREFE
loss 24,017 - - 24,017
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BHE-_ZT-_—_F+=H
=+—HIEEFE
Construction Construction
Services IT Services Unallocated Consolidated
BEER
BERE RH AR ADE e
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Additions to property, RENE  BER
plant and equipment & 7,751 - - 7,751
Depreciation of property, n% - BER
plant and equipment REWE 2,053 - 184 2,237
Loss on disposals of property, &Y% « HE K
plant and equipment FENER - - 1,881 1,881

Impairment losses on trade ~ REREEME S

receivables reversed in profit  FEMFUERE

or loss B (65) (3) - (68)
Impairment losses on contract R IEZHERM A4

assets recognised in profitor ~ BER{EEE

loss 17,984 - - 17,984
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

5. Revenue and Segment Information
(Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)
(iv) Geographical information

The Group principally operates in Hong Kong,
which is also its place of domicile. The Group’s
non-current assets are all located in Hong Kong.

(v) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers individually contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group during
the year are as follows:

5.

2 & 5

(b)

SER (F)

D ERERE (48)

(iv)

(v)

EBEE R
AEBTEREFE (A
HER) BEXRK - K
SENFERBEEDLR
BB ©
BEREETEZFNEHN

FR - JE@M%IMEZISEI
MU SERIB10% MR P Y
WS

2023 2022
:2: = _=__
HKS$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Customer I ZHI 70,089 60,047
Customer II' BRI N/A? 44,074
TiE A2
Customer III' AN N/A? 14,365
TER?
1 Revenue from Construction Services. g REREREHE
2 Revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue 2 U 25 7A A B 3R 5 B RE A AR

of the Group for the corresponding reporting period.

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R

SEBKETHBEI10% ©

141



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

142

6. Other Income H Al A
2023 2022
—Eg-= —F-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FET F&r
Interest income B U A 112 35
Sundry income HMIBIA 106 109
218 144
7. Other Gains and Losses Hitsm R E1E
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FE&T
Gain (loss) on disposals of property, HEME - BE K&
plant and equipment B (B 8) 3,314 (1,881)
Gain on fair value changes of financial Tﬁﬁ?@d‘)\?ﬁ 5B E B E E Y
assets at FVTPL N EW S 106 114
3,420 (1,767)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Impairment Losses Under Expected

BAHMEEBFREN NHR

Credit Loss Model, Net of Reversal EEE (HIREE)

2023 2022
—E-= —_F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Impairment losses recognised (reversed) — Ht LA T #8532 (B [B]) 9B (B /&5 18
on:

— Contract assets -BAHEE 24,017 17,984
- Trade receivables - B S REBGIE 312 (68)
24,329 17,916

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 28.

R ERE G F BN K28

Finance Costs BE A

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE&T
Interest on T EEHHE

- Bank borrowings - RITER 336 269
— Bank overdrafts —RITEX - 14
336 283

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &z — = —

=F+-A=+-ALEE

10. Loss before tax 10. BRERIEE
2023 2022
—s-= —T=-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEITL
Loss before tax has been arrived at BR 750 A1 548 TH S H0BR
after charging: AT EIREER -
Auditor’s remuneration Gk 850 820
Depreciation of property, ME - BERREITE
plant and equipment
— Recognised as cost of services -~ FERBRIEH AR 2,641 2,053
— Recognised as administrative expenses - HRRBITHAX 9 184
Total depreciation rERE 2,650 2,237
Employee benefits expense: (Note) EEBMFAX - (M)
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) ZEEME (FI5E12) 1,885 1,866
Other staff costs Hth 8 TR A
— Salaries and other benefits - He REMER 3,526 3,293
— Contributions to retirement benefit scheme - E{R1EF|HEI 173 135
Total employee benefits expense EEmAFR< A% 5,584 5,294
Cost of materials and toolings R ARBK AR
recognised as cost of services MR R T AR 1,468 3,248
Subcontracting fees recognised R AR
as cost of services (Note) DEEE R M) 100,768 143,852
Rental expense on short-term leases BE - PRYE RS
in respect of warehouse, REEENHEERX
office premises and machines 140 248

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2022,

subsidies of approximately

HK$5,823,000 granted from the 2022 Employment Support Scheme under
Anti-Epidemic Fund of the Hong Kong SAR Government has been received.
The amounts of approximately HK$5,463,000 and approximately HK$360,000
were netted-off against “cost of services” and “administrative expenses”

respectively.

Mizr: BE_T_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE B
WEBEBFERANENRESET -
T ZFRHEIFHEIA 495,823,000 T
Bh o & R 495,463,000 7T K 49360,0008 7T
BRI ARBS A AN R [1TE RS IR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

11. Income Tax Credit 1. FiISHER

2023 2022

—EC-=E —E-F

HK$000 HK$°000

FET T

Deferred tax (Note 23) EIER IR (M1 5E23) - (107)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the HRAREREBE_T_=FK_T_
Group has no assessable profits derived from or arising in Hong T AT HIEFEYERES
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. BN EBEENERTEF - L s

HEBFERIEL RS -
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss FAMGEHEBEREGEER REMEE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and Was REBRMATE B EBRAT -

other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
—s-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FEIT
Loss before tax BRAATEE (51,618) (56,310)
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of BREBNEHHTE16.5%
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) (ZBZ=F : 16.5%)
SHEOHIE (8,517) (9,291)
Tax effect of income not taxable AR AR B 5 5 2
for tax purpose (583) (985)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR B ST E
for tax purpose 2 149
Tax effect of temporary difference REREREENNG T E
not recognised 4,224 2,957
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERTEEBNH BT E 4,874 7,063
Income tax credit for the year FAMREHER - (107)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

12. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 12. EERESTRAEHME
Emoluments and Five Highest Paid REZEEHFET
Employees
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments EEREETHAEME
The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and chief HERAEBNEBENRENRARE
executive of the Company by entities comprising the Group are ERESTHRABNMESHOT
as follows:

Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other  Discretionary ~ to retirement
Fees benefits in kind bonuses  benefit scheme Total
RS- BIKER
we RHELENAR BERa TR @t
(Note (iv)) (Note (v))
GE) (R ()
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TEr TEn TEr TEr TEr
For the year ended 31 Bz-B-=F
December 2023 TZA=+-HLEE
Executive directors (Note (vi)  B{TEE (& (vi)
Mr. Adam Cheung (Note (i) R (R GiD) = 644 = 18 662
Mr. Ng Sheung Chung iR E - 462 Y] 18 522
Mr. Ma Kan Sun BREALE - 365 30 18 413
Independent non-executive ~~ BUFHTEE
directors (Note (vii)) (Bt & (vii))
Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Bl L E 9 - - - 9
Ms. Ding Xin (Note (i) Tor &L (M0 9 = = = 9%
Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia (Note (i) &5+ (3 () 96 = = = 96
288 1,471 72 54 1,885
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Employees (Continued)

12. EERBSTHAEMER
EERESHET(E)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

EENBEETHRAEME

(Continued) (%8
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and other Discretionary to retirement
Fees  benefits in kind bonuses  benefit scheme Total
| 5525 BN |
#e REOEWHER FBTEa oA @t
(Note (iv)) (Note (v))
GE) GiE)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS '009
T T T T T
For the year ended 31 St
December 2022 TZA=t-HLEE

Executive directors (Note (vi))  BTES (H&H(vi))

Mr. Adam Cheung (Note (i) R T A (i) = 660 = 18 678

Mr. Ng Sheung Chung i) St - 468 21 18 507

Mr. Ma Kan Sun BREALE - 360 15 18 393

Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEES

directors (Note (vii)) (GED)

Mr. Ho Kwok Lung Bl & % - - - %

Ms. Ding Xin (Note (i) T £ (RizE() 72 - - - 72

Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia (Note ()~ Z &2 £ (PzE() 7 = = = 7

Mr. Pak Shek Kuen (Note (i) A L (T FE ) 2 = = = 2

Mr. Lo Chi Hung (Note (ii) B S (PR G) 2% - - - 24

288 1,488 36 54 1,866

Notes: BT

(i) Ms. Ding Xin and Ms. Lo Yin Ping Patricia were appointed as an independent (i) TR EREFRFLLR B - —FMA—
non-executive director on 1 April 2022. HEZERBIIERITES -

(i) Mr. Pak Shek Kuen and Mr. Lo Chi Hung were resigned as an independent (i) HpEAEREEHEER_T-_—_FMA
non-executive director on 1 April 2022. —HEEBNIERTES -

(ii) Mr. Adam Cheung acts as chief executive of the Company and his emoluments (iii) REEEEIARNRRERITRAS - EXFAH
disclosed above included those for services rendered by him as the chief BEMEOIE A ERERAREEHNRS
executive in management of the affairs of the Group. TBA BRI H M < -

(iv) The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the duties and (iv) BISTEAL D2 Z R A TR A S B KB
responsibilities of the relevant individual within the Group and the Group’s RBENARKTEBHRREET
performance.

(v) No other retirement benefits were paid to directors in respect of their (v) BEREES g AEAQRENEAR R
respective services in connection with the management of the affairs of the BRI EEEEEHNREMRES T EM
Company or its subsidiaries undertaking. RIRAER] o

(vi) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services in (vi) FilRITEEMNE AREFBARN R RASE
connection with the management affairs of the Company and the Group. EEREHN RGNS

(vii) The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for (vii) FBYINTEEME REFIERADRA
their services as directors of the Company. EENRBGME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

12. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Emoluments and Five Highest Paid
Employees (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office. Neither the chief executive nor any of the
directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included two (2022: two) directors, details of whose emoluments
are disclosed above.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three
(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

12.

EERESTHRAESMER
hEmEHETL ()

EENBREITHAEME

(48
RBEZZT-_=Fk=-FT-__F+=A
=+—HLEFE AEBEHMERESEE
NAEMRME - ERMAKREE IR MA
REERMNBENEBEE REE

T =FRZFFF+ZRA=1+— E
IEFE  BESSTHRABSEWNES
MEXRBEREEMME -

TEEREFETL
RER - AEEREBRBHALBER
B(CE-F  MR)ES - BB
SEEN EXRE -

HEHBR=% (- —F : =2)WIkELD
AEENAESTRAENRSHE TH
S EFIBm T

2023 2022

—E_-= —EF_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREMEYA S 1,650 1,656
Discretionary bonuses BIFIEAL 73 61
Retirement benefits RIREF 54 54
1,777 1,771
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

12. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 12. EERBSTRAEMER
Emoluments and Five Highest Paid hEmEEHETL(E)

Employees (Continued)

Five Highest Paid Employees (Continued) FEERSHETL(E)

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three HBpR=R(CZE__F : ZR)WIFAR
(2022: three) highest paid employees who are neither a director REFHERITBRABNERFHE LN
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: MEFBERT

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—Eg-= T
Emolument band Bz &2
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 T 3 3
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no REBE-_T-_="FKk-_FT__F+=H
emoluments was paid by the Group to the five highest paid =+—BHLEFE  AEEHERLAEE
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon R B &= E A THAERA L FHEMR
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None B - T’EFE}DD)\$’$I_}UE’\M7\$EI
of the directors of the Company or any of the five highest paid BHREIEEBEE REBEE-_T_=
individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during FRZIFZZF+ZA=1+—HLHF
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. B ApaEEAEmEaHFALFHN
EfR] A T3 & EE kA B R E 0] B
13. Dividends 13. BE
No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary REBEEZZT-_=F+ZA=+—HLIF
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 ER - ARFERTBERRFIRST
December 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the SRS R EARE - BWEHRARETR
end of the reporting period (2022: Nil). ERREARECEZZF : |) -
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AR A B RS ok MY T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

14. Loss Per Share 14.

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the following data:

BRER

AEAREEEARGEERENERTD
ERATEE -

2023 2022
—EBC-=F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss &8
Loss for the year for the purpose of calculation AR EFREAREIELN
of basic loss per share FREE (51,618) (56,203)
2023 2022
—Z=-= —F=
‘000 ‘000
i T
(Restated)
(&71)
Number of shares R&HEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for AR T ESREAREIEBH LB
the purpose of calculation of basic loss per & N -5 85
share 312,000 288,351

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic loss per share has been adjusted retrospectively for the
consolidation of shares on 15 August 2023.

No diluted earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022 were
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
both 2023 and 2022.

ARt E R ERNEE N BRI F
HEEERNR-_Z_=F \A+HAN
B fn & BHEL BT -

HR B =F KT - —FHEBE

BRTLEER W_E o =FgR T
“FHEZNBREERF -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

15. Property, Plant and Equipment 15. 1% - WERZE

Leasehold Machinery
land and and Office
buildings Fixtures equipment equipment Total
AEL
kETF ®E RERRE WORE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TiErx TiErx TiErx
Cost A&
At 1 January 2022 N_E-—&F—f—H 8,029 2,188 5,942 65 16,224
Additions NE - - 7751 = 7751
Disposals k3 (5,260) (2,041) - = (7,301)
At 31 December 2022 R_B__F
+-A=t-H 2,769 147 13,693 65 16,674
Disposal k3 (2,769) (147) (5,745) (51) (8,712)
At 31 December 2023 R=BZ=f
+=A=+-H - - 7,948 14 7,962
Accumulated depreciation ZithE
At 1 January 2022 WZE-—%—A—H 1,867 1,033 3,455 65 6,420
Provided for the year EREE 82 102 2,053 = 2,231
Eliminated on disposals it 5 5 3 (359) (988) - - (1,347)
At 31 December 2022 RZB__F
+ZA=t+-AR 1,590 147 5,508 65 7,310
Provided for the year ERRE 9 = 2,641 = 2,650
Eliminated on disposals 5 3 (1,599) (147) (5,136) (51) (6,933)
At 31 December 2023 R-BZ=fF
t=B=+-H - - 3,013 14 3,027
Carrying values EHE
At 31 December 2023 R-B-ZF
t=h=t-H - - 4,935 - 4,935
At 31 December 2022 A S
+-A=1+-H 1,179 - 8,185 - 9,364
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

15.

16.

Property, Plant and Equipment 15.

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking
into account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 2%

Fixtures Over the shorter of the term
of the lease, or 5 years
Machinery and equipment 25%
Office equipment 20%
Financial Assets at Fair Value through 16.

Profit or Loss

Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVTPL: &%z A FEzH A Bz
TRMEE :
Key management personnel FEEEAEB
life insurance policy AFRE

Y - BB K ke ()

Lt - BERREEB S RAR
B FRESFRTIENERFER
B

HELHEEFT 2%

KE MEMKRSF
A& E RHE)

WEs MR 25%

WA 20%

BAVEHFABRSZNEH
BE

u+im

2023 2022
—E-= g
HKS$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
2,702 2,596
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—_ZT - =F+_—_A=+—HILFE

Financial Assets at Fair Value through 16. EAFEFTABZNEH
Profit or Loss (Continued) &E (]
The Group entered into a life insurance policy with an insurance AREBE-BARR ARG ZASRE -
company to insure against the death and permanent disability of R—BHITEFHRT RKARKER
an executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy ® o RBRE  XRARREFEAR
holder are Pak Fai Engineering Limited (“Pak Fai”), a subsidiary BEIRERAR (BB (KA7A—
of the Company, and the total insured sum is the higher of FMIEAR)  MAKRKREERATH
(i) approximately US$404,000 (equivalent to approximately FHESE  ()4404,000E T (FHER
HK$3,153,000); or (ii) guaranteed cash value and special bonus 493,153,000 7T) : k(iVMRBEREE
(if any); and the accumulated annual dividends and interest (if FAERIARN(E) - URBAFERE
any). The contracts will be terminated on the occurrence of the RFBEUNE) GHBEXREEEIE
earliest of the death of the key management personnel insured ABRTHEARENHMFRAHZF
or other terms pursuant to the contracts. The Group has paid out BEEZERTUKIE - AREERR
the total insurance premium with an amount of approximately B8 A 8 I 2 (T 4R B 49385,0003 7T (1
US$385,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,003,000) at the £ 493,003,000 7T) © AN B 7] BERS
inception of the policy. The Group may request a surrender of ERERR - WREBERRAMNRESEER
the contracts at any time and receive cash back based on the EiRE - BEEBEIBRERFABIZERE
cash value at the date of withdrawal, which is determined by XNREBBBEMBFAFERERFE
the gross premium paid at inception plus accumulated annual () IR REFESE - AFEMN
dividends and interest (if any) and minus insurance charges. The R A RIPTRERBE SRR -
fair value is based on redemption value quoted by the insurance
company.
Trade Receivables 17. EZERFEIE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FE&T
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 5,824 6,472
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (312) -
Trade receivables, net B 5 BRI F 5 5,512 6,472

TEF LA AR AT o 2023 £
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17.

& B 75 i 5% BT &

Trade Receivables (Continued)

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables at net arising from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately
HK$8,806,000.

The Group grants credit terms to customers for a period
ranging from 30-60 days from the invoice/payment certificate
date for trade receivables. The following is an aged analysis of

17.

B Z EWRR (&)

R-ZE-_—F—HA—H RKEEFEY

RE SN GKIAF 584 /58,806,000/%
7T|: o

REBAREFRTHNEETEZEFRK
RIEMBE N RERBEHEN F30E
60K - RI|EHAKRIRBE R EHAAR

trade receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented HEYME S REWKFKIE(HREESE
based on the invoice/payment certificate date at the end of the BE)ORESTAOT -
reporting period:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$000 HK$°000
FET T
Within 30 days 30HA 5,512 5,880
Over 90 days #BiE90H = 592
5,512 6,472

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$Nil (2022: HK$592,000) which are past
due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, none
(2022: HK$Nil) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default based on good payment history and the
Group is still engaging with the debtor in an active project. The
Group does not charge interest nor hold any collateral over the
balances.

Details impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in
Note 28.

NR_ZE-_=F+_A=+—H ' ~&E
MESERFELHBIERABEN R
TAETT(ZZT - —4F : 592,000
FEWERIAE - ZRIERHRE HEE A -
R@fEHs TR T(ZT ==

THIT)DBME0BE RN L - MERE
RIFONRESE RN EB(DEEHE AR

ET—EEE - WX TERER - K
5 30 4 i A5 SR R R B B i A R

m o

B 5 RYGRIERE SN IF RN E
28 °
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- - + &
18. Other Receivables, Deposits and 18. HitEWRIE - e R
=
Prepayments NRIE
2023 2022
—E-= S
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Prepayments (Note) A I8 (M) 16,897 26,557
Other receivables and deposits H Ath FE UK R iR & - 175
16,897 26,732
Note:  The balance mainly represents prepayment to certain subcontractors which are Mzt RAEKRFEERNTFETS2EBENEMK
expected to be utilised within six months after the reporting period. 1 - FEERRRESESEARNESA -
Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and Hih R IE R Z & BB AR FEH
deposits are set out in Note 28. MEIEE28 ©
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19. Contract Assets/Liabilities

BHEE 8fF

2023 2022
—g=-= -
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Contract assets BHEE 76,057 93,695
Less: Impairment loss allowance B R EE R G (52,946) (28,929)
23,111 64,766
Contract liabilities AHaE - (4)

As at 1 January 2022, contract assets at net and contract
liabilities amounted to approximately HK$127,638,000 and
HK$231,000, respectively.

Contract assets

Amounts represent the Group’s rights to considerations from
customers for the provision of Construction Services, which arise
when: (i) the Group completed the relevant services under such
contracts; or (ii) the customers withhold certain amounts payable
to the Group as retention money to secure the due performance
of the contracts for a period of generally 12 months (defect
liability period) after completion of the relevant works. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to
trade receivables at the point at which it becomes unconditional.

\:;::E—H—E~é%§§%@
NAHBEDRIAA127,638,000/8 7T
231,000/ 7T ©

BHEE
BREERASBIRHEEREHRZ
FHERENER - ZFRETIR ()
AEB T ZEFA KW T RERERY
g(NFFPRHNENAEERY SRBIER
RE 2 ARERER IEZTKE KRB
B(—RAB12BH) (RIEEEH)ZEE
TENMESL - STAERRENEEN
EREBREEERBEREREROER
B 5 WA
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19. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued)

BREE BEE

Contract assets (Continued) BHNEE(B)
2023 2022
—s=-= —E2-—
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Construction Services contracts — current BEREEY - RE
Unbilled revenue* AFAEW 17,810 50,411
Retention receivables EUWIRE S 5,301 14,355
23,111 64,766
* It represented the revenue not yet been billed to the customers which the 3 ERAKED TXZEEHE T8RS

Group has completed the relevant services under such contracts but yet
certified by representatives appointed by the customers.

The Group’s retention receivables included in the Group’s
contract assets will be settled at the expiry of the defect liability
period of the relevant contracts or in accordance with the terms
specified in the relevant contracts. The balances are classified
as current as they are expected to be received in its normal
operating cycle.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in Note 28.

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik

BiRARMZFFHARNKE @ MZSSHE M A
mEPHEENAREZE

AEEANEETHNARERKRES
K ERA & 4B ER B B (T HIE T b 5%
RIS MR ANIRREHE - ZFHER
DERREY  RA/EBRHAKN KL
SBEHNERE -

RERH S A ISR H 528 -
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19. Contract Assets/Liabilities (Continued) 19.

20.

Contract liabilities

Construction Services contracts — current BERBEL - "B

BREE BEE

BREE
2023 2022
—E-= —Egq-=
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
= 4

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the contract liabilities arise
from provision of Construction Services mainly represent the
excess portion of certified revenue over the recognised revenue,
the balance will be recognised as revenue for the year ending 31
December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

RZEZ=FR-T__F+ZHA=+
— B EHEERBEANSHNAEE
;JE.EEEE U Y B R R R A R

BRESRESIREE=S =N
¢&_7__¢+ A=+—HItFE
R AWE o

TRINFEERRETREESNAE
BRANWE S

Revenue recognised that was included in the FURAGNABREANER

contract liabilities balance at the beginning of Rz
the year

2023 2022
—E2-= —=F-=

HKS$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

4 231

Cash and Cash Equivalents 20.

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short-
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term
cash commitments, which carry interest at prevailing market
rates.

RERBATEEY

RePRSFEVE/RANSRELRE
lhﬁﬁiﬁiﬁﬁfﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁﬁﬁ XN K2 B T
C ABRITMIBHRETE ©
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21. Trade and Other Payables 21. EFRHEHMENRIE

2023 2022

—E-= —EF-—
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Trade payables B S ENRIA 7,164 7,653
Payroll and MPF payables T& KB EMNIA 418 453
Accrued expenses JEETR X 1,385 1,340
1,803 1,793
Total szt 8,967 9,446

9 {2 B P B 102 B B 530 B SR AA B2
(B 1 o

The credit period on purchases from suppliers is 30 days or
payable upon delivery.

AT RE S ENFIARRE HRIREE
KEHEJNRERE ST -

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2023 2022
—_E-= —Egq-=
HKS$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HA 7,164 7,653

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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22. Bank Borrowings 22. SRITEN
2023 2022
—E-= g2
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
The carrying amounts of bank borrowings that ~ A& ERE B IERAEITE
contain a repayment on demand clause FHBREERRBEEERET
(shown under current liabilities) but FIR) - MERAT B 8
repayable*: EiE*
= Within one year -—FRN 1,125 907
— Within a period of more than one year but not — B8 — 418 R M S HAR
exceeding two years A 1,449 1,264
= Within a period of more than two years but ~ — B8 M F 18 DR A F &) HIfE
not exceeding five years Al 4,653 4,059
— Within a period of more than five years - B A F R A 2,395 3,470
9,622 9,700
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan * ZEMFRBENER BB TECERASAR
agreements. %2% o

The Group’s bank borrowings of approximately HK$9,622,000 (2022: HK$9,700,000) as
at 31 December 2023 contained a repayment on demand clause. Bank borrowings carry
interests at market rates of 2.5% per annum below the prime lending rate (2022: 2.5%
per annum below the prime lending rate).

The weighted average effective interest rate of the borrowings is
3.63% (2022: 3.22%) per annum as at 31 December 2023.

REBR - Z-_=F+-"A=+—B®HRTERY
9,622,000/ 7L (=T = =4 : 9,700,000/ T) B &%
TREBBER - ROTERRERZERFRNTISE
MER25%:F8(CEZ=F : ERHZEEFERLFF
2 .5%) °

RZZB_=F+-A=+—H ' X

IMEFHERFEFNEE363%(-F—
T4 :322%) °
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23. Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset.

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets RIERRIBE =
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIBEE

23.

ELEREEE,BE

SERA M BIRRAKRNZINME

EHBEEMABD YL -

TRAMMSARE N BT RIBE S

DT

2023
— = — =

R

HK$°000
FET

483
(483)

2022
e —

=

HK$000
FET

795
(795)

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R
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23. Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

(Continued)

The following are the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

EHREEE SEE

RAFERBEFEEEDELHER
&/ (BE)REZHHIIMT :

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax losses Total
iz
BIETE BEER mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—f— 107 - 107
Charged (credited) to profit or BE&MNkRGEA) B
loss (Note 11) (BiEE11) 638 (795) (107)
At 31 December 2022 RZB-_S+-A=+—H 795 (795) -
Charged (credited) to profit or loss BESEMGRGEA)ER
(Note 11) (BaE11) (312) 312 -
At 31 December 2023 R=ZBZ=5+=-A=+-—H 483 (483) -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$150,777,000 (2022:
HK$123,122,000), subject to agreement by the Inland Revenue
Department, that are available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. A deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of approximately HK$2,929,000
(2022: HK$4,815,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately
HK$147,848,000 (2022: HK$118,307,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$49,846,000 (2022:
HK$24,246,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

R|EBRR AEERSAFIEERE
#9150,777,0008 (=2 ==
123,122,000 ) EH B BRAER A
YE K 85 K 2K 7] Bt £ PR AR ¢ iLE’JiﬁﬁIJ

Bz EE18%2,929,0008 (= =
—F : 4,815,0008 ) ERIELERIEE
E o ARARRFERAAAI TR - W
T8 40147,848,0008 L (— T - —
F : 118,307,000/ ) RIELERIAE
E o

RBEAR  NREEATNREG K=
RE 449,846,000 (=T = —4F :
24,246,000 7T) - WA B BZE A
MREREBRERAECHEEE - AT
K AT REFE AE B SR R % I BB DA K 8 AT F00RK
B ERE -
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24. Share Capital

24. IR

iR e B R R Y R

“EC=FTA=THLEE

Number of Share
ordinary shares capital
TEREE &N
HK$’000
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each/HK$0.1 each  &}%0.017%8 7T,/ &/%0. 178 7THY
(Note (ii)) =R i)
Authorised: JETE -
At 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 N-ZBE-_—_F#—HA—8K
—E-—_F+=-F=+—H 4,000,000,000 40,000
Share consolidation (Note (ii)) F& 15 & OF (M 7E () (3,600,000,000) -
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEBE-=+=-H=+—H 400,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: EZFTRHEE -
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F—H—H 2,600,000,000 26,000
Shares issued under placing (Note (i) BETR SR (BTEEG)) 520,000,000 5,200
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—_F#+-_F=+—H 3,120,000,000 31,200
Shares consolidation (Note (ii)) F&15 & OF (B 7E () (2,808,000,000) -
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=%+=-H=+—H 312,000,000 31,200
Notes: B 5E -
(i) On 16 June 2022, the Company allotted and issued 520,000,000 ordinary (i) RZZE_—FXA+8 XABUERE

(ii)

shares by way of placing, at a placing price of HK$0.03 per ordinary share
for cash. The gross proceeds from the placing amounted to HK$15,600,000,
among which, HK$5,200,000 were credited to the share capital of the
Company and HK$10,400,000 (before issuing expenses) were credited to share
premium of the Company.

Pursuant to the resolution passed at the special general meeting of the
Company held on 11 August 2023, the consolidation of every ten (10) issued
and unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the then capital
of the Company into one (1) consolidated ordinary share of par value of
HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company became effective on 15 August
2023.

TEF LA AR AT o 2023 £

(ii)

75 = EL % K #£47520,000,0000% & 38 A% A 2
BB BREEASRIEMAR0.03ET -
Bl FT{S B4 5 415,600,000/ T + &
F15,200,000 T EFFARRFRA - M
10,400,000/ 7T (FNBR BE1TF X A B 5t AR
NERDIRE °

BER-—T_=FNA+—BEITZARAA
BREHNAE LBBRRER  BERA
RAIRAFEFET(10)REBEITRAZETER
0.01B TR EBREHARABIRAS—(1)
RERONBTH L BBRORMNEHER=
To=FN\A+HRBEER -
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25.

e TR

i}

Retirement Benefit Plan

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. Under the scheme,
the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the Scheme,
which contribution is matched by employees.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of HK$227,000
(2022: HK$189,000) represents contributions payable to these
plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.
As at 31 December 2023, contributions of HK$29,000 (2022:
HK$16,000) due in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023
had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57)

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant
to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the
obligation to pay LSP to qualifying employees in Hong Kong
under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers or upon
retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period,
based on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3
X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while the amount
of long service payment shall not exceed HK$390,000. This
obligation is accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit
plan.

25.

RIRERETE
-

=H =

I1 /:'_E'f/vTAu i”
SERMERBENGEREBRRY
Beatal - RIEZTE - EXRHEE
X BARESHBERABS% MG E
fy’( & AW AR £BR 30,0007
cFEIMNBEERRNEENEED AR
ﬁ HEEARGNESEER - X5E
BRI EK AR5 %M &S fEK
& 8 IMEL R E MR -

ﬁ%

==

Ry

RiEa R 42%56227,0008 (=
T4 : 189,000/ 0) BAKEE LT
ERRNETEM L KMz EETE B H
BR - R_FE_=F+=-_A=+—8"
mEE-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HI1t
FEEHR29,0008 (T - —4F
16,0007 70) 3R M R MEF 81 1 » 3%
EFHEECRREBAREZN -

RIZE B EERA (5
RBEHNEE

RAKEREEZENHBRARAME -
RIEEFEGD (E57F) - AEEEEE
A TERT (1018 8 15 18 X 7 18 =X
ﬂfﬁﬂ%)ﬁ%?@’*’éﬂﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ&

578) YR

e WEAHRKIART H Eift#E
FRAOT :
(BRBE AT %18 A 37 x 2/3 < RIS FHA

&=1% A% ERA22,500% 70 0 mKEIAR
B SR EHEiE390,000/8TT ° %A
EABRPIEBEE 12 R EBHETE -
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Retirement Benefit Plan (Continued)

Defined contribution plans (Continued)

Obligation to pay LSP under Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57) (Continued)

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the Group's
mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative
returns thereof, for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an
employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset the LSP. The
Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e.,
1 May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR is also
expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers for
a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on the LSP payable
by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory MPF
contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after
the Transition Date can continue to be applied to offset the
pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible to offset
the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP
obligation before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the Last monthly wages immediately
preceding the Transition Date and the years of service up to that
date. The Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on the
Group's LSP liability with respect to employees that participate
in MPF Scheme and the Group has accounted for the offsetting
mechanism and its abolition as disclosed in Notes 2 and 3.

TEF LA AR AT o 2023 £

25.

RIRERETE ()

SEEREE (&)
RIBE BRAEHED (FE578) X R
BRAS & MO T ()

BESh - M= AAEE BB (RS
Bl 1500 A AR R BB A L A 41 S T
SHFK - ML REEAFE B
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HRED) -

BN —_E_—FE <A ++BT
B HERFEARIAMNMERESHER
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RIFERT RS - AEERBIE B RN
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26.

27.

Share Option Scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
conditionally adopted by the written resolutions of the
shareholders of the Company passed on 22 July 2019. Under
the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company may, at
their absolute discretion, at any time within a period of ten
years commencing from the effective date offer to grant to any
eligible persons, including employees, directors, consultants,
suppliers, customers and shareholders of any member of the
Group, options to subscribe for shares. The total number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders. The total number of shares
issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Scheme to eligible participants in any
12 months period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1%
of the shares in issue as at the date of grant, any further grant of
options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the approval
of Company’s shareholders in a general meeting.

No share option has been granted by the Company since the
adoption of the Scheme.

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, as disclosed in Note 22, net of cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

26.

27.

BRETE

ARRRER=_ZE—NFEtHA=-+=H
BREERBRBBRUEFEMARRTIBR
T EI([ZsTal)) - BIEZTE - BA
BT FEANEMER  AaEE
EEAERNBERAERTAMNEERA
T(RiEREE - EF - B - H#ED -
EPRASEEMKE QAR T
RIBRDOBIRE - REARFIRRSE
FRUE - BIRFZET 8 A% IS AR O AR
DB SBBADRMEMEFEE BT
RHEI10% - BERH B BNER+=
EAEERN  RITEEERLZEALIIR
BZTEERNBREZB ZITRA
FEITHRMDBRETEBARE BB
BITRHE1% @ BIMNRHBIBZ1% L
REEREACANFBRERABREAS
HEAE ©

BERMZETEIAR - ARRER KT
{a] 8 RS HE

EXEREE

AR B A AR A TR EL 5 4 555
e AERAECEBRESTER
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27. Capital Risk Management (Continued) 27.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of items in the context of capital structure, and takes
appropriate actions to adjust the Group's capital structure. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through continuity of funding of cash
flows from operating activities or raising new funds by new share
issues as well as the issue of new debts.

The net debt-to-equity ratio at the end of the reporting period is

ExfEEEE(E)

RARIEE TR ERERE - EALL
B —BD  EEESEEREER
HZEEEARKAN Kk EEIEIE B EENR

% WIREUEE R EARAEENE
$ i - RBESHNER - A5BKB

BREEHNFERSREE S I
BRETRETHEBENARERTES
TR H BB A ARG -

RBERROFEG LR RWT ¢

as follows:
2023 2022
—B-=HF —T-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Debts (i) BE7() 9,622 9,700
Less: cash and cash equivalents IR RIREEBY (18,600) (14,006)
Net debt B FRE (8,978) (4,306)
Total equity (ii) 4B RE 75 (i) 53,168 104,786
Net debt-to-equity ratio FEGE AL X N/A N/A
TiEH TiE A

(i) Debt is defined as bank borrowings, as detailed in Note 22.

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

TEF LA AR AT o 2023 £

(i) BEBRERRITER - FBERME22 -

(ii) BamBEME AN REEE R -
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28.

e TR

Financial Instruments

Categories of financial instruments

ERIT A
EMITEDHE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E——
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Financial assets EREE
Amortised cost BEHA A 24,112 20,653
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BHIE AT EFABDE 2,702 2,596
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost B 18,589 19,146

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s financial instruments include financial assets at
FVTPL, trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other payables and bank borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Management has assessed there is
minimal exposure of the interest rate risk on the variable rate
of interest incurred on the bank balances, bank overdrafts and
bank borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to raise borrowing at
fixed-rate or variable-rate according to business needs and as to
balance the fair value and cash flow interest rate risk.

R REIERZERBR

AEENS TAEBERAFETAR
EHNEREE BSHEUGIA - EMAE
WnEkZEs  HeEkRSFEY  Z
SREMEMREREBITER - %ZF
CRITEMNFBERIEEMERHE -
A%%ﬁﬂlﬂﬁ@MH@@%ﬁ%

b (FEE) FERRBEASHE S
ﬂ& PR Z F BB A BURE R T
X o BEEEE MERZERR AR
REB BN TEE FEHE

™5 R ke
== [ P
MEREATISHNEZEH K| BEHT
E—E’]’L\\$@§z5ﬁxiﬁi/m§&@mﬂ
b o REBERTM - FERITARR R
175 > RARTT 18 5K AT A H Bq &9 51 2 2 g
B - REENBEABRBERTEIR
*Eﬁﬁ EREER Y TFEATEK
i//lbgiﬁj_&‘_}—t fa o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

28. Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. €RLT A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and FEEREREEERBE
policies (Continued) (%8
Market risk (Continued) 5 R ke (&)
Interest rate risk (Continued) T 2= 7 Fex (48)
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging 2N 65 B 3R AR NI A N BRI o AT -
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate risk EREERNERR  WHRLERE
exposure and will consider interest rate hedging should the need T RS -
arise.
Total interest revenue/income from financial assets that are REERATTENRR B NG SRE
measured at amortised cost is as follows: EWRALT :
2023 2022
—E-= T
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other income EHabug A
Financial assets at amortised cost B HEK AT ENESREE 112 35
Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at FVTPL: WHRAFEFABRTENCREE
M B
2023 2022
—=E-= —E -
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEKATENERAE 336 283

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R 169
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28. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for the variable-rate bank borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming the bank overdrafts and bank
borrowings outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 100-basis point (2022:
50-basis point) increase or decrease throughout the reporting
period is used internally for assessment of possible change in
interest rate.

The management of the Group adjusted the sensitivity rate from
50 basis points to 100 basis points for assessing interest rate
risk after considering the impact of the volatile financial market
conditions in 2023.

If interest rates had been 100-basis point (2022: 50-basis point)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$75,000 (2022: HK$18,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023. This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

28.

LRI A&

B E b e B AR BR
(#8)
miZ Rk (&)
R = 2 b (48)
T Z BB 5T

TEIJ@WF“MW&F;?@%U“A"%Eﬁ{ﬁ

M ERRET - ZAMIHIBRZRRR
%,Hﬁiﬁrc‘uﬁiai%ﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ TEX RIRITHER
REFREYREEMRR - EEEARS
HAP91E ek D 100 A HE S (— T - —
F : SOEEZ) TR A BT A £/
ATREEL o

REB_T_—FMMBENKBBER
% NEBEEEAS N RE R
REER R S0EFEZ1001E -

WFE EFH, THEI100EER (===
& S0EER)MAAAE AMESHERET
2'%$%.@i_7_:¢+—ﬂ:
+T—HLEFENFREBERD, LM
#975,0008 L (ZF =4 : 18,000/%
JT) ° EII%%E%IBAKEII/;EU%U
TfETT1ﬁthﬁﬁﬁEnnm%ljrﬂ
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables, contract assets, bank
balances and other receivables and deposits. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets
and other items under ECL model. Information about the Group's
credit risk management, maximum credit risk exposures and the
related impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in
place for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group carries out research on the credit risk of
the new customer and assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed
to customers are reviewed when necessary. In this regard,
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 100% (2022:
100%) of the total trade receivables and 96% (2022: 67%) of
the total contract assets was due from the Group’s five largest
customers. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits and credit approvals.

© 2023 FIR

28.

R T A (&)
SRR EEE
(,.\,a\)

A—vc
::/‘

=R BUR

KRB R

s8R %ﬁﬁlmx%%iL&ﬁm
%f&ﬁ%ﬁ$¢@§§%%%%%ﬂ
“°$§IMETH T BREEHE
WHIR - BHEBE - RITHERKEME
Wz E&&ﬁ o ZNER B MR (4K
Mok EMEERRERARBEEES
BMEEMEBNERERR -

AEERBENEEEREAHERE
ENEMIR B ETRENE - BEAANE
BEERRERE  ZAEEERR&IAH
MERT i (ER) B E R AT

HEFNENMELENE S BRFIER
BHEE

RBOBEEERR  ~AEEREET
EERRB EEFEMREMGEREFN
TSR LA i R BR BXUBR #E 15 e WX (2 280 H3 S
5 REMEMHFETL A - AREY
¥ P oS B R o 17 8 5T X R B
EE?MVLE%&%EEﬁmE%

PETEFPHNBEEELERE T
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B EERR
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P 8AKBEEFEERR - BEE
ERBAERE  AEEEEEDE
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28. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers (Continued)

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets
individually. The Group considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition on an
ongoing basis. Impairment of HK$312,000 is recognised (2022:
HK$68,000 is reversed) on trade receivables and HK$24,017,000
(2022: HK$17,984,000) is recognised on contract assets during
the year. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below
in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
bank balances by reference to information relating to probability
of default and loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss allowance
was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The management believes that there are no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the ECL
for other receivables and deposits are insignificant and thus no
loss allowance is recognised.

28.

LRLT A (&)
MEEREEBERBUR
(#8)

RBELABR
HEFNANMELNESERRER

BHEE(E)

AN - REERBEHEEBBER Y
B SR HIERE HNEE[BEITRE
FE c REBEEEENVIRERRZ R
BHMOA M - TEEEERRBESR
VEERESIHFBERELEN - R - E’Jﬁ
B 5 BB IEER312, ooo,’%n(

— 4 : #[68,0008 ) Mk A
EER24,017, ooo/%rc(f eS 77@
17,984,000 7T) KRB - EE2H TR
HIBENARET X ©

RITHEER

RITEBHOEERRAER - RAAY
FHAEEREERBER TREETIR
MAZIRTT - AEELREINSBEEFTR
BERGHRABEETIRERNELOR
EREABRERBER - sHEHBRTE
B2 ATEREEEE - RIBEFHE
BE  RITEBNNEABHEEER
WRABWTEK - FAt I EEREEE
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Htt W RIR R RS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

28. Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. T RLT A (/&)
Financial risk management objectives and FEEREREEERBE
policies (Continued) (%8)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) TENE €& ke (8)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the REERREERRTRTHEIEA
following categories: TR -
Internal Trade receivables/  Other financial
credit rating Description contract assets assets
ESEWRES
REEEFR  #Hk BREE Htt&MEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
1K B RSB FHNEORRE  BXERETEHFRE 2HBEHEEEE- 12@AEHEEEER
BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
usually settle in full credit-impaired
BREeE BEBAKLERINMRRER  BRFRHEN 2HRACEEEHE- 12EARHAEEESE
BEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL = not
risk since initial recognition through information  credit-impaired credit-impaired
developed internally
AJ k¢ BRIBEABELOER - BYIRERAKR  EEE 2HEHRAEEEE - 2HREBESEEE -
2 BB 1L AN BEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-  Lifetime ECL— credit-
impaired impaired impaired
B BRBRTEECREERARME THARREEERE - %HH%EHHFEJ%TE -
=ERE SERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtorisin ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

o gH EEBRTNEBARBABREV KN - AAEE SRRCMEE M
I ) B UK B FRIR ) AT B

TEFT LR AR AT o 2023 F3f
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28. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Financial assets at amortised cost

BRENTHENSRER

Trade receivables - contracts with
customers

BARYGUE- RPN

Other receivables and deposits

R EYGRRES

Bank balances

RiThs

174

Notes

ffiE

20

External
credit
rating

HIREIR

VA

iyl

N/A
iyl

Internal
credit
rating

NBEEFR

Low risk

ERk

Low risk

it

N/A
0yl

28. &R T B (&)

BEEGEERERBER

(&

/JIL

B RRGE

TRAMAEERETRAGEEERN
ENEREERENEENEERR

12m or lifetime ECL

NEATHEAEEER

Lifetime ECL (individual
assessment)

2HENEEER
(felRIHE)

Lifetime ECL (indvidual
assessment)

2HRAEERR
(BRIEFfE)

12mECL
12EARSEERR

TamECL
12EARBEERR

2023 2022
b= Sy “E-CF
Gross (ross
carrying amount carmying amount
REESE FHRELE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
fér  FEn  TET  TEn
5,710 6,472
114 5,824 - 6,472
- 175
18,600 14,006
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

28. Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. €T A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and B E b e B AR BR
policies (Continued) (%8
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) MENE € ke (8)
2023 2022
“ECZE E-CF
External Internal
credit credit Gross Gross
Notes rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL carrying amount carrying amount
B ABEETR APEETR NEASRHRNEERE  BEESE FEBLE

HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS 000
FEr  TEn  TEAT  TEL

Other items
HtbER
Contract assets 19 NA Low risk Lifetime ECL (individual 23,903 67,035
assessment)
ahEE ER Rk HEHEEER
(ERIFE)
Loss Credit-impaired 5,154 76,057 26,660 93,695
BB {EEAE

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R 175
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

28. Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. €W T A (/&)
Financial risk management objectives and BB EEBERBE
policies (Continued) (4&
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) TENE €& ke (8)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has THRERED Ti,\%ﬂgﬂﬁl%ﬁ&/—\ HEE
been recognised for trade receivables and contract assets. BRNEHBEHEESEE
Trade Contract
receivable - Trade assets - Contract
Lifetime ECL receivable  Lifetime ECL assets -
(individual (credit- (individual (credit-
assessment) impaired)  assessment) impaired) Total
ES &%
JEIRE - BE-
2R 2HRES
GEFR EZEYWFE EEFR BHEE-
(181 51774%) (FEWRE) (RI3745) (EEHE) @t
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr A7 TEr TER TEr
As at 1 January 2022 R-B--f-A-H 68 - 911 10,034 11,013
= Transfer to credit-impaired -BAZENE - - (360) 360 =
- Impairment losses - BRRRERR
recognised - - 1,921 22,943 24,864
- Impairment losses reversed -BEESR (68) = (203) (6,677) (6,948)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--§¥+-A=1-H - - 2,269 26,660 28,929
= Transfer to credit-impaired -BAZERE = = (297) 297 =
- Impairment losses - ERRAERE
recagnised 198 114 100 27,646 28,058
~ Impairment losses reversed -BEHEEE - - (1,280) (2,449) (3,729)
As at 31 December 2023 R=BZ=f+-A=t+-H 198 114 792 52,154 53,258
Changes in the loss allowance for contract assets are mainly due BREEEBEEZHTIZANESR
to the recognition of impairment allowance for credit-impaired T_=F+-A=+—HIEFE Tﬁﬁﬁﬁ
contract assets with a gross carrying amount of HK$27,646,000 B{E 527,646,000 (T - =
(2022: HK$22,943,000) during the year ended 31 December 22,943,000 L) MEEREANEE
2023. HER R E B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties
in meeting its financial obligations as and when they fall due. In
the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The directors of the Company monitor the utilisation of the
bank overdrafts and bank borrowings. As at 31 December 2023,
the Group has available unutilised overdraft and short-term
bank loan facilities of HK$33,000,000 (2022: approximately
HK$36,000,000).

The following table details the remaining contractual maturity
of the Group for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights.

B AR AR « 2023 FiR

28.

LRI A&

R REERERBR

(&)

MENE € @k
RBETRAREASEREITESIEM
BEERBIRENER - SEERD
Bl AEBERBESLRRCEE
MEIKF - BEHEFRERERREH
BKE - ARARE B S ERE MR
REMERETE o

RARIEFERRITESZ RBITERL
FEABR b’/\\—g::ﬁ‘f’_ﬂ ==
H - ANEBNATARSASE S KEHR
TERRVE 533,000,0008 (=2 =
— 4 : 4936,000,000/7T) °

TRALAEEFTESREBENRT
BHEHBER - ZRDVBBEAEER
MAERFZEAXNHARBREDR
EMGIE - AEME @ MHREBRER
FRBITIERF AZRRERA -
PRI TR R TE R R AT BEIE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

28. Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. T RLT A (/&)
Financial risk management objectives and FEEREREEERBE
policies (Continued) (48
Liquidity risk (Continued) REE LR (E)
Weighted On demand Total Total
average or within  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year cash flows amount
il BRER KERRE REE
TR H1FR REAR By
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Tk F#7x

Non-derivative financial liabilites i< ¢ RERE

At 31 December 2023 R-ZZE-=%+-A=1+-H

Non-interest bearing Fit 8

Trade and other payables B o REMER TR N/A RiER 8,967 8,967 8,967
Interest bearing itE

Bank borrowings SRITEER 3.63 9,622 9,622 9,622
Total m@st 18,589 18,589 18,589
At 31 December 2022 R=ZB==f+=p=+-8H

Non-interest bearing FitE

Trade and other payables BN E RN A N/A i 9,446 9,446 9,446
Interest bearing itk

Bank borrowings BITER 3.2 9,700 9,700 9,700
Total @t 19,146 19,146 19,146
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Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or within 1 year” time band in
the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2023, the
aggregate carrying amount of these bank borrowings amounted
to HK$9,622,000 (2022: HK$9,700,000). Such bank borrowings
of the Group are expected to be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

For the purpose of managing liquidity risk, the management
reviews the expected cash flow information of the Group’s bank
borrowings based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in
the loan agreements as set out in the table below:

28.

T A&

AR ETE B ERBUR
(48

TEE S ER (8

ﬁﬂﬂi(;z/\fa EBRTRITERGTAL
MBS TR R E RS F AR
W NR-ZBE-_=F+-A=+—08 " %
LRITERWARRMEER9,622,000/8
JL(ZZE == :9,700,000/87T) - 18
RS BB BRITEFBREE R
EMEMIE T EREBEER -

REEBRDECRER  BEERETE
FTE B S M TEE B R A BER
AREEMRITERFBHIREGREER -

Total Total
Within 1t02 2105 Over undiscounted carrying
1 year years years Syears  cash flows amount
REBRES BEE
1£R 1525 2555 BiBSE REHE BE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FEr FEn FET FEn FET FEn
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=%
+=A=1-8
Bank borrowings RITER 1,436 1,714 5,142 3,027 11,319 9,622
At 31 December 2022 i —a
+-R=t+-H
Bank borrowings RITER 1,224 1,541 4,625 3613 11,003 9,700

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik
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28. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are
measured at fair value on recurring basis

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. The Company uses the
following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair values
of financial instruments:

Level 1 — fair value measurements are those derived from
qguoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 — fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

Level 3 — fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

TR TANAFETE

REBREEMEENATEFEN
TREEMNAFE
AEEZAFEFABSNEBEEN
BEREPRIZ A TEFE - AAFHRA
MIELAEERBEESR T ANAF
1A :

F—H - AFEFESHERREEN
ETEEA/EE&H?%E'H&T (&

F-H - RVFEAEEAE-RR
BRI EES BB
B AZERERBZE
%) e (BMREREE)
SHEME -

E=H - DTEHEENGALE
1595 AT B AR T 45 B R ]
BB AR NEERA
1 0 N B 1 18 A B
HF1S o
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28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR e B R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

Financial Instruments (Continued) 28. €W T A (/&)
Fair value measurements of financial T AN A FETEE)
instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are FEERKEHEEEUNFEFEN
measured at fair value on recurring basis (Continued) TREENATFEGE
The financial assets measured at fair value are grouped into the ERATEFENEREEF AR TERE
fair value hierarchy as follows: BT
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ e 3 E=R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=F+-A=+-—H
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFA B BEE
- Key management personnel - EEZEEABAZRE
life insurance policy - 2,702 - 2,702
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ E_H® F=M st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET FHET FET
At 31 December 2022 WZZE-——&#+-fB=1+—8
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABENEREE
- Key management personnel - EEZEEABAZRE
life insurance policy - 2,596 - 2,596

The fair value of the key management personnel life insurance
policy is determined by reference to the redemption value quoted

by the insurance company.

EFTEERAR AT » 2023 F3R

IZEBABASRENAFENZE
KRR AR FHERDEEETE
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28.

29.

ar e B R R BT R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets that are
measured at fair value on recurring basis (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1
and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on
recurring basis

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair value.

Significant Related Party Transactions

Apart from disclosure elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022:

28.

29.

T A&
ERTANAFENEE
REBREREEELA

TREEN D FEE)
REBE-_ZT_=FK-_T-_"Ft+_A

FE R

—t+—HULIFE F-HREEF_HIHE
BMEANTEASEE - JiEE AREY
B

REEL FREFHELEL N FEE
ENTRMEENRESREBEBENATE

ARAEERR  NEAMBHRRBIR
BEKATIENEMEENRERAEN
REEREQERS

EXBBLIRS

BREEVBBRREMBOMBESE
S - $Elﬁﬁki_;_—$&_7_
—HEFT A=t HILFEERER
MIATRS

2023 2022
—E-= =
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
PaE FHET FET
Rental expenses paid to: MUATEAZMHEERAX :
Ma Do Success Limited BETHKAR R F] (i) & (ii) 98 169
Notes: B3
i) The rental expenses were charged based on the terms agreed between the (i) TS THIREE B AT A 77 1 7 8 16 3
parties involved. B e
(i) A company directly owned as to 40%, 30% and 15% by Mr. Adam Cheung, (if) —HBEREE REXETRERBEESFE
Ms. LC Cheung and Mr. Ma Kan Sun, respectively. In addition, Mr. Adam W EA40% « 30% R 15%REHRF] It

Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung are the directors of the company.

S REERRR T BZARNES -
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29. Significant Related Party Transactions 29.

30.

(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are also key management
personnel of the Group whose remunerations are disclosed in
Note 12. Other than that, the remuneration of a close family
member of a director of the Company and other members of
key management personnel of the Group during the year was as

follows:

iR e B R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

EXBBAERS (&)

ARAEZ(MAAEEETREREASR)
BRI DO SE 1240 B8 © BRUL 251 - £
ARREFNHRRERBERAREEE
EEABEMKEBNHIAT

2023 2022
—E-=HF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Short term benefits g HATR A 894 981
Post-employment benefits B 24 A 22 27
916 1,008
Pledged of Assets 30. EEREE
The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the AEEEENREEEEFER - 186
Group's assets and the carrying amounts of the respective assets BEZREBENT :
are as follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=F T
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERERE - 1,179
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABSENSREE 2,702 2,596
2,702 3,775

In addition, certain bank borrowings are also secured by i)

corporate guarantee from the Company; ii) personal guarantee
from Mr. Adam Cheung and Ms. LC Cheung; and iii) guarantee
from HKMC Insurance Company Limited under the SME
Financing Guarantee Scheme for both years.

TEFT LR AR AT o 2023 F3f

AN - ZREFE - BT RITERIT

AT 513 B (R 47

AR 2 EE

RNREERKEETZEAER &
i) lHKMC Insurance Company Limited
REDNEEREERSRENE

& e
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At

31. Particulars of Subsidiaries of The

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company at the end of the reporting period are set out below:

Name of
subsidiary

MEARERE

Directly held:
BERA -

Autumn Well Limited

Indirectly held:
FERFR

Pak Fai

faE

Ma Yau
SR

Pak Fai Plastering Works
Limited
RERKIRRERAR

Conform Technology
Limited
EEEAMRARAA

Creative Panda Limited

Vantage Charm Limited

Place of

incorporation/

operations

AR R i B

BV
RBRUES

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
ER

Hong Kong
ER

Hong Kong
BB

BV
RBEUES

BV
RBREZEHS

Issued and
fully paid

share capital

ERTRARKRE

US$1
(Ev

HK$300,000
300,000/ 7T

HK$300,000
300,000/ 7T

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T

uss$2
2XTT

Us$2
2XTT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. XRAMERRFE

wE

NS

i
B

Equity interests
attributable to
owners of the Group

TEBEBA

FE{L R A fE =
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

F

HIRAN R AIE & KR EA N0
RIFEIBESIANT

Principal activities

FEXREKED

Investment holding
REER

Provision of wet trades
works services

REEKTRRS

Provision of wet trades
works services

REEKTRRS

Provision of wet trades
works services

REEKTRIRS

Provision of construction
information
technology services

REREE AR SRS

Investment holding

REZR

Investment holding

REER

Hands Form Holdings Limited ® Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

32. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From

Financing Activities

an\ 7f E& #& i'% |3ﬁ

EE_=f+=-PB=+—HItFE

32. MERBHELERENYER

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRALMEETDEENAEEEED
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 2% pRERERFReED  @mES
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for FEANEBEDBEREXARKIREN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in EENAEBGERERERDELER
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BRIMSHRERENEE -
from financing activities.
Bank Bank
borrowings overdrafts Total
BITER BITEX et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R_EBE__F—H—H 7,906 8,373 16,279
Financing cash flows BMERERE 1,525 (8,373) (6,848)
Interest expenses recognised & FERF B H X 269 - 269
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE_—_F+-_A=+—H 9,700 - 9,700
Financing cash flows MERERE (414) - (414)
Interest expenses recognised B ERF E MY 336 = 336
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-=%+=A=+—8H 9,622 - 9,622
Note:  The financing cash flows represented the net amount of proceeds from bank Mk : BMERSTERREBRITERAEHRE - X

borrowings, payment of finance costs and repayments of bank borrowings.

TEFT LR AR AT o 2023 F3f

NEE KA REERITEREFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4T A B IS R R B 5
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—ZT—_=F+_-_A=1+—HILFE

33. Statement of Financial Position and 33. KATHMBEMRRAREFEE
Reserves of the Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BRAARRBINEHE BRI BARLER A

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI :
2023 2022
—_E—-= S
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current Assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB A RIHIRE 2,906 40,000
Amount due from a subsidiary JrE g — FET Bft /BB R B 3R = 48,318
2,906 88,318
Current Assets REEE
Prepayments TR FRIE - 371
Amount due from a subsidiary JrE g — FET Bf /BB R B 3R 14,615 14,755
Bank balances R1T4EER 55 55
14,670 15,181
Total Assets BWEE 14,670 103,499
Current Liability REBAE
Accruals FEET IR 35 137
Net Current Assets REBEEFE 14,635 15,044
Net Assets BEEFE 17,541 103,362
Capital and reserves BEXK#E
Share capital % 7R 31,200 31,200
Reserves G (13,659) 72,162
Total Equity mER 17,541 103,362

ARBFERRAERRN T _ME=A =
TARBEE=SHERRESRM - X H
UTESFRKREFERE

The Company's statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2024
and signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Fai Adam Mr. Ma Kan Sun

REIFE L BERESE
Director Director
2 EFE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE—T-_=F +-_A=+—HILFE

33. Statement of Financial Position and
Reserves of the Company (Continued)

34.

A summary of the Company's reserves are as follows:

nm dw&#&%ﬂﬁ

33. ARQRBBEMRRERK HE

(4&)

ARBR RS T -

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
B% 3518 ZitEE et
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 NZE-_—_F—H—H 83,610 (17,342) 66,268
Loss and total comprehensive  FAEE &2 EH X B%E
expense for the year - (4,275) (4,275)
Issue of shares upon placing & RFEE/TA D 10,400 - 10,400
Transaction costs attributable — E{THZ & %10 E(L R Z AR
to issue of shares under
placing (231) - (231)
At 31 December 2022 RZE—=F+=-A=+—H 93,779 (21,617) 72,162
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE & 28X B5E
expense for the year - (85,821) (85,821)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=%+=ZHA=+—H 93,779 (107,438) (13,659)

Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures of the consolidated financial
statements were reclassified to conform with the current year’s

presentation.

BB AR AR « 2023 Fik

34. LkEIEF

BAMMBERZETHRRTAD

MOBEUFE

AARFEENENTA -
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Financial Summary
BT 75 2

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of the Group ~ 8B C FIBEEXGAUBRR L BRER
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited ~ BT RABEFRFENAEBEEREE - 8
consolidated financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out below.  EREDBEH T o Al B I TR AL
The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated — FZ&RA P EHREH—ZBH o

financial statements.

Results ¥EE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+T-HA=t—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E=-= —E2__ T ZE-TF ZEB-hHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET T T T T

Revenue Y zs 86,702 122,517 117,456 304,965 558,137
Gross (loss)/profit E08)/H (21,489) (28,628) (63,460) 3,803 70,183
Listing expenses EFAAX - - - - 17,586
(Loss)/profit for the year RRBERTE
attributable to equity ABHFA
holders of the Company (B518) /& F (51,618) (56,203) (83,186) 7,369 35,826
Assets, liabilities and equity BEE  BERES
At 31 December
W+=—HA=+-8H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —EFT-Z —E—F ZTZTF ZT-hF

HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET  FAT  TET  TET  THT

Non-current assets FEMBEE 7,637 11,960 12,286 11,615 13,919
Current assets mEBEE 64,120 111,976 178,963 241,903 248,024
Total assets BEE 71,757 123,936 191,249 253,518 261,943
Current liabilities nEaE 18,589 19,150 45,522 24,590 40,236
Net current assets mENEEFE 45,531 92,826 133,441 217,313 207,788
Total assets less current BEERMRDAEE

liabilities 53,168 104,786 145,727 228,928 221,707
Net assets BESE 53,168 104,786 145,620 228,806 221,437
Equity attributable to equity ~ AR RIERIFA

holders of the Company NG 53,168 104,786 145,620 228,806 221,437
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